
1ANNUAL REPORT



3ANNUAL REPORT

CONTENTS
INTRODUCTION
 - VISION
 - MISSION
VALUES
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REMARK
FINANCE REPORT
FUND ADMINISTRATION REPORT
RISK & COMPLIANCE REPORT
INVESTMENT REPORT
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
BOARD OF TRUSTEES
EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4
 4

4
6
8

10
12
14
15
17
18
34
36
38
40



4 Botswana Public Officers Pension Fund

INTRODUCTION

TO BE A TRUSTED INDUSTRY LEADER IN THE 
PROVISION OF RETIREMENT BENEFITS

VISION

MISSION
WE SECURE AND GROW MEMBER FUNDS IN 
A SUSTAINABLE MANNER ENABLING THEM A 
DIGNIFIED POST CAREER LIFE
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INTEGRITY

To portray 
professional 
behaviour and ethics

BOTHO

To conduct ourselves 
in a respectable 
manner at all times 
by being courteous, 
considerate, 
responsive, and 
professional

ACCOUNTABILITY 

To take responsibility 
for our decisions

CUSTOMER 
FOCUS 

To serve the best 
interests of our 
customers
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CHAIRMAN’S 
STATEMENT

Our five-year 
organizational strategy 
which by the way 
began in 2017, acts 
as a blue print which 
continues to guide us as 
we endeavour to build 
wealth for our members. 
As one would expect, 
this can not be an easy 
excursion, there are 
challenges along the way 
but with commitment 
from the entire BPOPF 
team this dream can be 
 realised.
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Members are further urged to regularly visit our regional offices to 
enquire about their pension and to ensure that their records are 
up to date. 

In accordance with the Retirement Fund’s Act, 2014, the BPOPF 
board composition was reduced to eleven (11), from twenty one 
(21). We believe that the reduction in numbers will contribute to 
effective decision making and enhanced execution of the board’s 
fiduciary duty.

Finally, let me express my gratitude to the Board members, 
Management and Staff of the BPOPF for their hard work. It is their 
selflessness and commitment that continues to build the BPOPF 
brand.

Solomon Mantswe

Board Chairman

A significant growth of 10% obtained in the period under review compared to 3.97% attained in the 
previous year gives us hope and confidence to continue working hard to enable our members a dignified 
post career life. Moreover, the Fund declared a final interest rate of 9.2% for the active and deferred 
members, 2% for with profit pensioners and 5.1% for the pre - retirement switch portfolio. I would like 
to encourage the members to start Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVC) which do not only augment 
their pension benefits but will also lead to tax reduction.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER’S
REMARK

The year 2018/19 
was a good one for 
members with 9.2% 
profit being declared 
for Active and 
Deferred members. 
This was the highest 
declaration over 
the last there years 
since the double digit 
declaration in 2015. 
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Risk management remained an important area of focus, more so with 
the increasingly risky landscape that the Fund is operating in. The Fund 
reviewed its risk management framework including reviewing the risk 
appetite, the ERM framework as well as compliance risk. The annual 
regulatory risk assessment questionnaire is a competent tool that is used 
by the board to gauge the maturity and agility of the risk management 
processes. 

The board has continued to drive performance through the Strategy. They 
have been a great support to management and staff during the year. I 
would like to thank them and the management and staff for ensuring 
that there is absolute focus on the important issues. 

Boitumelo Molefe

Chief Executive Officer

The Fund has benefitted from the review of the Investment Policy Statement (IPS) in 2017 and the 
subsequent asset alignment transitions during 2017 and 2018 with four new offshore mandates added 
to the portfolio. This transition is still ongoing to ensure that the investments reflect the IPS objectives, 
which were reviewed again this financial year. 

The last year was a challenging one for the management and board of the BPOPF when our country 
fell into the AML/CFT grey list. The Fund had to change custodians and the members will be pleased 
to learn that despite the anxiety, it was a smooth process. FNB Botswana is now the custodian of the 
entire portfolio with a strategic relationship with JP Morgan for the offshore assets. 
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FINANCE
REPORT

FOR THE REPORTING PERIOD, 
THE FOLLOWING NEW FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS WERE 
ADOPTED:

IFRS 9 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The standard sets out requirements for 
recognizing and measuring financial assets, 
liabilities and some contracts to buy or 
sell non-financial items. The impact of the 
expected credit loss assessment resulted in 
impairment of P3.3m in accounts receivable 
and a decrease in fund reserves by the same 
amount.

IFRS 15 – REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 
CUSTOMERS 

The core principle is that the Fund should 
recognize revenue to depict the transfer of 
promised goods or services to customers in 
an amount that reflects consideration by 
which the Fund expects to be entitled to in 
exchange for those goods or services. The 
standard is not expected to have a material 
impact on the Fund’s financial statements

FOR THE REPORTING PERIOD, 
THE FOLLOWING NEW FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS WERE 
ADOPTED BUT ARE NOT YET 
EFFECTIVE:

IFRS 16 – LEASES

The standard requires the Fund, as the 
lessee, to recognize a right-of-use asset 
and a lease liability for all leases and as 
the lessor, to classify finance and operating 
leases. The impact on the lessee accounting 
would recognize a lease liability of P9.7m 
and a corresponding right-of-use asset of 
P9m. Finance costs would increase by P0.6m 
and the depreciation charge would increase 
by P2.3m. The surplus for the year would 
have reduced by P0.2m if the standard was 
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adopted while equity would have declined by 
P0.7m. The standard will be adopted for the first 
time in the 2020 financial statements.

IFRIC 23: UNCERTAINTY OVER INCOME TAX 
TREATMENTS

The standard clarifies how to apply recognition 
and measurement requirements of IAS 12 when 
there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. 
Changes in facts and circumstances are required 
to be treated as changes in estimates and 
applied prospectively. The Fund will adopt the 
interpretation for the first time in the 2020 
financial statements. It is unlikely that the 
interpretation will have a material impact.

MEMBERS’ FUNDS

Members’ funds increased by 4% from P51.7 
billion in 2018 to P57.9 billion in 2019. The 
movement represents excess income (from 
contributions and investments) over expenditure 
(benefits paid and administration expenses).

COST PER MEMBER

One of the strategic measures of the Fund is 
the cost per member which is important for the 
management of Fund costs. During 2019, the 
cost per member was P68.00.

NET REPLACEMENT RATIO

Another strategic measure is the net replacement 
ratio (NRR) which indicates the average that 
members earn at retirement in relation to their 
final salary. In 2019, the NRR was 42%.

FUNDING LEVEL

As at March 2019, the Fund was in a financially 
sound position at 101.8%, an indication that the 
Fund will be able to meet member benefits as 
and when they become due.

INSURANCE

The Fund had in place adequate insurance cover 
for the following:

• Errors and Omissions;
• Trustee Fidelity 
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FUND
ADMINISTRATION
REPORT

FUND ADMINISTRATION 
REPORT 2018/2019
During the year the Board of Trustees approved 
Service Standards in an effort to improve service 
delivery to members.

Member education and awareness was also 
intensified through the use of an SMS facility 
and social media platforms.

MEMBERSHIP
As at March 2019, the membership of the Fund 
was as follows:

Membership portfolio Year 2018 Year 2019

Active and deferred members 147,947 153,633

Pre-retirement Switch 
members

44 50

Pensioner 7,257 8,373

Total 155,248 162,056

BENEFIT PAYMENTS
Membership category Year 2018 Year 2019

Active members 4,182 3,445

Deferred members 766 652

Pensioners 58 48

Total 5,012 4,156
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RISK & 
COMPLIANCE
REPORT

RISK MANAGEMENT 
BPOPF’s risk management’s mission 
is to implement a comprehensive and 
integrated risk management process 
that enables management to effectively 
deal with uncertainty and associated risk 
opportunities promptly, thus enhancing 
the BPOPF’s capacity and value. It is 
important for the fund to continuously 
identify, assess, treat, monitor and report 
risks, which then provides assurance to the 
Board that key risks are being identified 
and managed.

The Fund reviewed its risk management 
policy and framework this year which 
introduced a combined assurance model, 
which aims to optimizing the assurance 
coverage obtained from management, 
internal and external assurance providers.

IDENTIFIED ISSUES AND 
RISKS IN 2018/19
During the year, the fund’s strategic risks 
guided the Internal Audit Plan to enable 
them to focus on high risk areas within the 
organization. The Risk Committee, Audit 
Committee and the Board reviews these plans 
on a quarterly basis to ensure compliance.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

COMPLIANCE WITH THE FINANCIAL 
INTELLIGENCE (AMENDMENT) ACT 2018 
AND ITS REGULATIONS

In June 2018 the Financial Intelligence 
Agency amended the Financial Intelligence 
Act referred to as the Financial Intelligence 
(Amendment) Act 2018 and its Regulations.

The Regulator, NBFIRA set out guidelines to 
assist the Non-Bank Financial Institutions to 
document AML/CFT & Proliferation Policies 
in order to satisfy this obligation.

The Fund has complied with the stated 
guidelines.

ETHICS

TIP-OFF SERVICE/WHISTLE BLOWING 
FACILITY

The Fund continues to use the services of 
a tip-off anonymous facility to promote 
protection of its whistle blowers through 
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an independent service provider. This facility is 
used to report issues of fraud, corruption and 
maladministration within the organization. It 
is open to staff, members of the Fund, all the 
relevant stakeholders and the Public at large.

FINANCIAL RISKS
The Fund is exposed to various financial risks, 
including market risk (comprising currency risk, 
interest rate risk and equity price risk), credit risk 
and liquidity risk.

This is managed through a process of ongoing 
identification, measurement and monitoring that 
is subject to an extensive framework of limits 
and other controls.

MARKET RISK

This is the risk that asset prices will change 
unexpectedly or stay in unfavourable positions 
for longer than expected, due to systematic 
factors such as recession.

The Fund closely monitors the markets and takes 
relevant action when necessary.

CURRENCY RISK

The Fund is exposed to currency risk mainly 
through its investments and term deposits 
denominated in foreign currencies, and foreign 
investments in securities, bonds and unitised 
and mutual funds.

The Fund keeps cash as minimal as possible. 
For risky assets, the currency movements are 
strongly considered before making investments 
and during the life of the investment.

CREDIT RISK

The Fund takes on exposure to credit risk, which 
is the risk that a counterparty might be unable 
to pay amounts in full when due. The risk is 
mitigated by conducting credit risk assessments 
and due diligence on counterparties.

LIQUIDITY RISK

This may occur if the Fund is unable to meet 
short term financial demands. It is mitigated 
through cash flow planning and maintaining a 
liquidity cushion, thus minimising the need to 
convert assets to cash rapidly.

Effective risk and compliance management is 
one of the Fund’s key strategic objectives and 
trustees, management and employees play a 
part in this important endeavour. BPOPF further 
commits to transparent reporting to all its 
stakeholders.
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INVESTMENT 
REPORT

ASSET UNDER MANAGEMENT 
GROWTH
The asset base continues to grow year on year, 
registering 10% growth from BWP 60.3 billion to 
BWP 66.3 billion compared to last year’s asset 
growth of 3.97%. Diversification across regions 
and across asset classes was a big contributor 
to strong portfolio growth.

The following table shows the return declared on 
the different portfolios

DEVELOPMENTS IN THE PORTFOLIOS

During this year, the Fund commited to an even 
more active rollout of the investment strategy to 
sustain growth. The China manager selection is 
complete and will be followed by an allocation 
into Africa during 2020/21.

FUND PROFIT DECLARATIONS SINCE INCEPTION

PORTFOLIO MARCH 
2018

MARCH 
2019

Active Member & Pensioner 
Portfolio

2.4% 9.2%

With Profit Pensioner Portfolio 1% 2%

Pre-retirement Switch Portfolio 0% 5.1%
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

1. BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES 
STATEMENT ON 
GOVERNANCE 
The Botswana Public Officers 
Pension Fund (“BPOPF”, 
or the “Fund”)’ recognises 
that the attainment of its 
strategic goals and objectives 
depends on having a robust 
and effective corporate 
governance framework. The 
governance framework of the 
Fund is firmly rooted on the 

Retirement Funds Act, 2014 
(the “Act”), the Retirement 
Funds Regulations (2016), 
the Non- Banking Financial 
Institutions Regulatory 
Authority   (“NBFIRA”)’s 
Prudential Fund Rules, the 
BPOPF Rules (the Rules), the 
BPOPF Board Charter and 
other applicable legislation. 
The BPOPF Board of Trustees 
(the Board or Trustees) 
reaffirms its commitment 
to creating an enabling 
environment for good 
corporate governance, culture 
and practices to thrive. The 

Board remained steadfast 
in upholding the pillars of 
corporate governance being 
transparency, accountability, 
fairness and responsibility in 
the exercise of its fiduciary 
responsibility of creating value 
for the members of the Fund.

The Fund has also adopted 
the King Code on Corporate 
Governance whose principles 
it aspires to uphold. The 
applicable version currently 
being King IV contains both 
principles and practices 
aimed at achieving 
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governance outcomes. 
King IV recommends that 
organisations should provide a 
narrative explanation on how 
the recommended practices 
are implemented, and how 
these give effect to the related 
King IV principle. King IV 
includes supplements which 
illustrate how it should be 
interpreted and implemented 
in various contexts, situations 
and legislative regimes. As 
such the BPOPF is required to 
apply all the King IV principles 
with the necessary adaptation 
as explained in the sector 
supplement for retirement 
funds.  Appendix A illustrates 
how the Fund has applied 
each of the seventeen (17) 
governance principles of King 
IV.

2. BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES 
STATEMENT ON 
GOVERNANCE

In terms of the Act and the 
Rules of the Fund the Fund 

is constituted by 11 Trustees, with (i) five (5) appointed by the 
Botswana Government ( Employer Trustees), (ii) five (5) appointed 
by the members of the Fund ( Member Trustees), and (iii) one 
(1) other Trustee being an Independent Trustee appointed by the 
Board. All the Trustees sitting on the Board have been successfully 
vetted by NBFIRA prior to assuming office. The term of office 
for the Trustees is five years, with provision for reappointment 
for another five-year term. Table 1 below lists the Trustees of 
the Fund during the financial year end 2018/19. The Trustees 
designations, qualifications and levels of experience are as per 
Appendix B.

Employer Trustee Appointing Authority Date of Appointment

Employer Trustees

Mr Solomon Mantswe       
(Board Chairman)

Government of Botswana 
(Botswana Police Service)

30/04/2013

Brigadier Charles Nkele Government of 
Botswana) Botswana 
Defence Force

05/06/2013

Ms. Emma Peloetletse Government of Botswana 
(Ministry of Finance and 
Economic Development)

01/10/2013

Ms Ruth Maphorisa Directorate of Public 
Service Management

17/11/2016

Mr Legomela Molodi Government of Botswana 
(Office of the President)

31/03/2018
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Employer Trustee Appointing Authority Date of Appointment

Member Trustees

Mr Tobokani Rari Members (BOSETU) 30/11/2014

Ms Neo Joel Members (NALCGPWU) 17/06/2015

Mr Ketlhalefile 
Motshegwa

Members (BLLAHWU) 30/11/2014

Mr Topias Marenga Members (BOPEU) 30/11/2014

Mr Agang Gabana Members (BTU) 17/11/2016

Mrs. Rutang Moses Board (Independent 
Trustee)

24/08/2018

LEGEND OF ABBREVIATIONS

BOSETU Botswana Secondary School Teachers Union

BLLAHWU Botswana Land Boards Local Authorities & Health 
  Workers Union

BOPEU  Botswana Public Employees Union

NALCGPWU National Amalgamated Local & Central Government 
  & Parastatal Manual Workers Union

BTU  Botswana Teachers Union

3. THE STRATEGIC ROLE OF THE BOARD

THE DUTIES OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

The Board is charged with a high level oversight of the Fund’s 
strategy and organisational performance in order to create value 
for the members of the Fund. Theirs is a fiduciary role which entails 
making decisions for and on behalf of the members. The overall 
duties of the Board are outlined in the Board Charter and the Rules, 
and are aligned to the statutory requirements of the Act. These are:

• to manage, control and administer the Fund;

• to provide strategic and policy direction for the management 
of the Fund;

• to establish and review 
the risk management 
framework of the Fund;

• to ensure that proper 
internal control systems 
are in place to manage 
risks;

• to determine the 
investment policy, setting 
out investment guidelines 
and performance 
benchmarks in line with 
the policy;

• to monitor operational 
compliance; and

• to establish and manage 
stakeholder relationships.

THE BOARD MEETING (S)

The decisions of the Board are 
made by way of resolutions 
passed at formal meetings. 
The decisions are for the 
Executive Management to 
implement and operationalise. 
In accordance with the Board 
Charter and the Rules, the 
Board must convene at least 
once each quarter to execute 
its mandate. However, there is 
provision for special meetings 
to be held in order for the 
Board to dispense with critical 
and urgent matters. In the 
Financial Year under review, 
the Board held four (4) regular 
meetings and five (5) special 
meetings, and the Trustees’ 
attendance at the Board and 
Committees ‘meetings was as 
per Appendix C.



BOARD COMMITTEES

In discharge of its duties, the Board has 
delegated certain functions to well-structured 
sub committees constituted by Trustees. However, 
accountability for the functions carried out by 
the committees remains with the Board. Below 
are the sub- committees of the Board in the year 
under review:

Benefits Committee

During the year under review, the following 
were members of the Benefits Committee, Ms 
R Maphorisa (Chairman), Brigadier C Nkele, Mr 
A Gabana, and Mr K Motshegwa. The Benefits 
committee is entrusted with the oversight function 
of the Board of Trustees over matters relating to 
the administration of member benefits.

Finance and Investment Committee

The Finance and Investment Committee 
comprised of the following members Mrs. E 
Peloetletse (Chairman), Ms R.R.K Moses, Mr L 
Molodi and Mr T Rari. This committee discharges 
the oversight function of the Board over finance 
and investment matters relating to the fund 
in accordance with the laws, Rules, Investment 
Policy Statement (IPS) and other applicable 
policies and regulations.

Risk Committee

During the year under review, the Risk Committee 
comprised of Mr K. Motshegwa (Chairman), Ms R 
Maphorisa, Ms R.R.K Moses and Ms N Joel. The 
Risk Committee is entrusted with the oversight 
function of the Board over matters relating to 
Risk Management in the Fund.

Human Resource and Remuneration 
Committee

During the year under review, the Human 
Resources and Remuneration Committee 
comprised of Mr T Marenga ( Chairman), Mr 
S Mantswe, Ms N Joel and Ms E Peloetletse. 
The Committee is entrusted with the Board’s 
oversight function over all matters relating to 
ethical management of human resources within 
the Fund in line with applicable labour laws, 
policies and best practice.

Audit Committee

3.3.4.1 The Audit Committee comprised of the 
following members, Brigadier C Nkele (Chairman), 
Mr A Gabana, Mr T Marenga, Mr T Rari and Mr 
S Mantswe (temporarily before appointment as 
Board Chairman). The Committee has approved 
terms of reference outlining its duties as follows:

• to monitor the integrity of the financial 
statements of the fund at year end and any 
other formal announcement relating to its 
financial performance, reviewing significant 
financial reporting issues and judgements 
which they contain; 

• to review and advise the Board on the 
effectiveness of the fund’s internal controls 
in the context of the Fund’s overall risk 
management system; 

• to monitor and review the effectiveness of 
the fund’s internal audit function;

• to consider and approve the remit of the 
internal audit function and ensure it has 
adequate resources and appropriate access 
to information to enable it to perform its 
function effectively and in accordance with 
the relevant professional standards.

21ANNUAL REPORT



Trustee Training and Capacity Building

The Fund is committed to continuously 
capacitating members of the board with skills 
required for them to discharge their fiduciary 
responsibilities effectively. This is necessary 
especially in the fast evolving pension and 
investment industries. This year the Fund had 
an annual Trustee training plan which included 
participation in industry specific training as 
follows:

• Anti-Money Laundering training

• Developing the Effective Audit Committee 
training

• The practical implementation and application 
of King IV

• Strategic Human Resources Conference

• Risk Management training

REMUNERATION OF TRUSTEES

In line with corporate governance requirements 
and international best practices, the Fund, 
in recognition of the onerous responsibility 
bestowed upon the Trustees and the time they 
devote to Board’s business, has developed 
a Board Remuneration Policy (the Policy). 
The Policy provides that the members of the 
Board shall receive a fixed sitting allowance 
per Committee and Board meetings, at a rate 
prescribed by the Board. Table 2 below shows 
the total remuneration in respect of each Trustee 
during the year under review:

NO. OF SITTINGS NAME OF TRUSTEE TOTAL 
AMOUNT

21 Emma Peloetletse 75,240.00

19 Tobokani Rari 65,340.00

18 Legomela Molodi 60,060.00

16 Topias Marenga 57,750.00

16 Agang Gabana 54,285.00

16 Neo Joel 53,625.00

13 Solomon Mantswe 53,470.00

15 Ketlhalefile Motshegwa 52,305.00

15 Rutang Moses 49,500.00

13 Brigadier Charles Nkele 45,540.00

9 Ruth Maphorisa 30,360.00

TOTAL 597,475.00

CODE OF CONDUCT AND ETHICS

Section 14 (2) (a) of the Retirement Funds Act 
requires the Fund to adopt a code of conduct. 
The Fund’s Code of Conduct is aimed at ensuring 
that the Board and employees of the Fund act 
legally, ethically and in the best interest of the 
Fund. Furthermore it seeks to promote good 
ethical conduct and responsible decision making 
by the Trustees. The Code of Conduct prescribes 
how the Trustees and any service provider of the 
Fund are to conduct themselves in carrying out 
their respective functions. It also provides for 
consequences of non-compliance or breaches 
of the Code and other policies of the Fund.  
The Code of Conduct is applied in conjunction 
with the Rules, applicable laws and any board 
pronouncements or policy directive issued by the 
trustees from time to time. 

DECLARATION OF GIFTS AND 
ENTERTAINMENT 

The declaration of gifts is an essential element 
of corporate governance and an enabler to 
effectively ensure that the business of the Fund 
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is carried out in a transparent manner and 
with utmost integrity. To this end, the Fund 
has developed a Gift and Entertainment Policy 
(the Policy) for its Trustees and Staff. The 
Policy is intended to avert situations that could 
compromise the independence and judgement of 
the Trustees and staff in conducting the business 
of the Fund. It clearly articulates the principles 
and procedures to be adhered to regarding the 
receipt and disclosure of gifts and invitations 
to hospitality events from clients, stakeholders, 
business associates and other industry players. 
The Policy also prescribes the corrective and 
punitive actions to be taken in the event of 
non-adherence to the laid down principles and 
procedure.

BOARD PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENTS

It is a statutory requirement (Section 14 (2) of 
the Act) that the Board, assess its performance 
annually. The Board assessed its performance for 
the period under review through an independent 
facilitation process. The assessment addressed 
the Board’s contribution to developing strategy 
and policy, their understanding of their roles 
and responsibilities, personal engagement, the 
board’s performance relative to its objectives, 
performance of the business, compliance 
with applicable laws and regulations, risk 
management, adequacy of the governance 
structures of the Fund including consideration 
of relevant skills and the effectiveness of board 
meetings amongst others. It also entailed 
appraising the performance of the Chairman of 
the Board, Chairmen of both the Finance and 
Investment Committees, the Risk Committee and 
the Board as a collective and the competencies of 
individual trustees. 

The key observations and recommendations 
from the performance reviews can be succinctly 
summarised as follows;

• there is notable improvement in the overall 
performance of the board.

• the board’s level of personal engagement 
was good and constructive

• the Trustees’ level of understanding  their 
roles and responsibilities was high

• the Board upholds its independence and 
authority in dealing with infringement of the 
fundamental principles of governance.

• The Fund remains highly compliant with 
most aspects of applicable legislation and 
regulation.

• There is need to include more independent 
specialist trustees with the requisite 
competencies in order to improve the 
efficiency of the board.

• there is a challenge of attrition to its 
composition and the resultant high vacancy 
level which does not augur well for effective 
governance.

The Board is working on implementing 
the recommendations emanating from the 
performance assessments.
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KING IV DICLOSURES
A REPORT ON THE BPOPF’S APPLICATION OF KING IV PRINCIPLES ON CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

REQUIREMENT APPLICATION AND COMPLIANCE BY THE BPOPF

PRINCIPLE 1 The Board should set the tone and lead 
ethically and effectively

The Board has set the tone of ethical leadership by developing 
and adopting the following policies, codes, rules and practices:

1. Fund Rules – require that in the discharge of their 
duties, the trustees must act in good faith towards the 
Fund’s stakeholders; avoid conflict of interests and act with 
impartiality in respect of Members and Beneficiaries.

2. The Code of Conduct - prescribes how the Trustees, 
Staff and any service provider of the Fund are to conduct 
themselves in carrying out their respective functions.

3. Gift and Entertainment Policy- articulates the principles 
and procedures to be adhered to regarding the receipt and 
disclosure of gifts and invitations to hospitality events 
from clients, stakeholders, business associates and other 
industry players. 

4. Whistle Blowing Policy - provides an avenue for 
raising concerns related to fraud, corruption or any other 
misconduct by employees, business partners or any other 
third party dealing with the Fund. 

PRINCIPLE 2 The Board should ensure that the 
Fund’s ethics are managed effectively.

The Board ensures that there is effective management of the 
Fund’s ethics by  ;

1. Prescribing the corrective and punitive actions to be 
taken in the event of breach and or non-adherence to the 
principles, procedure and practices laid down in the various 
codes, policies and rules.

2. Assessing and sanctioning appropriate corrective 
measures, administrative actions and any other penalties 
in respect of incidents of misconduct, corruption, breaches 
of policy and or unlawful practices. 

APPENDIX A
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REQUIREMENT APPLICATION AND COMPLIANCE BY THE BPOPF

PRINCIPLE 3 The Board should ensure that the Fund 
is a responsible corporate citizen.

The Board has developed a Citizen Economic Empowerment 
Policy through which the Fund undertook to create an 
environment in which citizens of Botswana, and citizen owned 
companies, are empowered to participate meaningfully in the 
economy of this country, especially in its procurement of goods 
and services processes.

PRINCIPLE 4 The Board should lead the value creation 
process by appreciating that strategy, 
risk and opportunity, performance 
and sustainable development are 
inseparable elements.

The Fund’s strategic planning process demonstrates the Board’s 
ongoing commitment to the sustained success of the BPOPF. 
The Board has developed the Fund’s Corporate Strategic Plan 
(2017-2020) which takes cognizance of the prevailing trends 
in the global and local retirement fund space and captures 
growth targets with the aim of creating increased value for the 
members. The Board ensures that this is carried out against 
the setting of an enhanced risk and compliance framework, 
robust internal capabilities and comprehensive reporting.

 The Board oversees the implementation of the Fund’s 
Investment Strategy to ensure that targeted investment returns 
are achieved as planned for the benefit of the members

PRINCIPLE 5 The Board should ensure that the 
reports and other disclosures enable 
the members to make an informed 
assessments of the Fund’s performance, 
and its ability to create value in a 
sustainable manner.

The Board has put in place mechanisms for disclosures and 
reports which ensure that there is meaningful communication 
to the members. These include;

1. Annual Reports- these are produced after the end of 
each financial year as a report on the overall performance of 
the Fund. The reports are disseminated to all the members 
and other critical stakeholders.

2. Member Benefit Statements - the Board, through its 
Actuary conducts an actuarial valuation at the end of each 
financial year to ascertain the Fund’s financial soundness. 
The report is submitted to the Non-Banking Financial 
Institutions Regulatory Authority (NBFIRA). It is on the 
basis of the actuarial valuation that the Board is able to 
declare profit on member benefits and benefit statements 
issued to the members.

3. Member Quotations - Members are, upon request at any 
time, issued with quotations advising them of their fund 
credits to assist them in making retirement decisions

PRINCIPLE 6 The Fund’s Board should serve as the 
focal point and custodian of corporate 
governance in the Fund.

The Board as the custodian of corporate governance in the 
Fund has documented its roles, responsibilities, powers and 
procedures in the Board Charter.
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REQUIREMENT APPLICATION AND COMPLIANCE BY THE BPOPF

PRINCIPLE 7 The Board should ensure that in its 
composition it comprises an appropriate 
balance of skill, knowledge, experience, 
diversity independence and knowledge 
needed to discharge its governance role 
and responsibilities.

The constitution of the Board is prescribed by the Retirement 
Funds Act. The Board is currently constituted by trustees with 
varying and relevant knowledge, skill and experience notably on 
the following key disciplines; financial management, investment 
management, risk management, law, communications and 
corporate governance among others. 

PRINCIPLE 8 The Board should consider creating 
additional governing structures to assist 
with the balancing of power and the 
effective discharge of its responsibilities, 
but without abdicating accountability.

The Fund has delegated certain of its responsibilities to 
working Committees; Finance & Investment Committee, Risk 
Committee, Human Resources & Remuneration Committee, 
Benefits Committee and Audit Committee. These committees 
are constituted by Trustees and Executive Management (in 
the case of the Risk Committee). All Committees report to the 
Board on a regular basis and as set out in the Board Charter 
for decision making.   

PRINCIPLE 9 The Board should ensure that the 
evaluations of its own performance 
and that of its structures, its chair and 
members and the principal officer result 
in continued improved performance and 
effectiveness.

In line with the requirements of the Retirement Funds Act, the 
Board evaluated its performance, committees and individual 
trustees facilitated by an independent consultant. The Board 
is responsible for ensuring that the recommendations from 
the evaluations are implemented in order to improve its 
effectiveness. 

PRINCIPLE 10 The board should ensure that the 
appointment of, and delegation to 
competent executive management 
contributes to an effective arrangement 
by which authority and responsibilities 
are exercised. 

The Board is responsible for the appointment of the Chief 
Executive Officer/Principal Officer whilst the responsibility 
of appointment other executive management rests with the 
Human Resources and Remuneration Committee.

There is in place an approved Delegation of Authority Matrix 
through which the Board delegates certain powers and 
responsibilities to executive management.

PRINCIPLE 11 The Board should govern risk and 
opportunity in a way that supports 
the Fund in setting and achieving its 
strategic objectives

The Board has developed a Risk Management Policy and 
Framework, setting the Fund’s risk appetite and tolerance to 
both strategic and operational risks that the Fund is exposed 
to. The policy outlines a process of risk management that is 
aligned with generally accepted good practice as well as relevant 
governance instruments. The Fund also has risk management 
structures in place that are responsible for the identification, 
management and monitoring of risks at different levels of the 
organisation being; the Executive Risk Management Committee, 
the Risk Committee and the Board.

PRINCIPLE 12 The Board should govern technology 
and information in a way that supports 
the Fund in setting and achieving its 
strategic objectives.

The board has developed a five-year Information Technology (IT) 
strategy for the Fund to ensure that its information technology 
objectives are aligned to its business objectives.

The Risk committee of the board ensures that IT risks are 
identified and properly mitigated. The board carried out an IT 
audit to get an independent assurance on the effectiveness of 
its IT governance i. e its alignment to the corporate strategy, 
risk management and the delivery of value through information 
technology.
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REQUIREMENT APPLICATION AND COMPLIANCE BY THE BPOPF

PRINCIPLE 13 The Board should govern compliance 
with applicable laws and ensure 
consideration of adherence to non-
binding rules, codes and standards.

The Fund’s compliance with laws, regulation and relevant 
standards is monitored by the Board through the Risk 
Committee. 

PRINCIPLE 14 The Board should ensure that the Fund 
remunerations fairly, responsibly and 
transparently to promote the creation 
of value in a sustainable manner.

The Human Resources and Remuneration Committee of the 
Board has a delegated responsibility over matters relating to 
the Fund’s remuneration policy and practices. The Committee 
is mandated to review the implementation of the Fund’s 
remuneration policy to assess whether the set objectives are 
being achieved, which include fairness and transparency as well 
as to cultivate and maintain a high-level performance culture 
to assist the Fund to fulfil its mandate and strategic objectives. 

PRINCIPLE 15 The Board should ensure that assurance 
results in an adequate and effective 
control environment and integrity of 
reports for better decision-making.

The Board of Trustees, through its Audit Committee, exercises 
oversight relating to financial reporting and internal controls. 
The Fund has an independent Internal Audit function that 
reports directly to the Audit Committee to provide assurance 
on the adequacy and effectiveness of the control environment. 
The Internal Audit function has an Internal Audit Charter which 
outlines the function’s mandate and the reporting lines, which 
forms the basis for the function’s independence. Internal Audit 
reports to the Board of Trustees through the Audit Committee.

The Board through the Audit Committee, regularly receive and 
review reports from Internal Audit that provide assurance that 
significant risks are subject to periodic review, that controls 
are reviewed for adequacy and effectiveness and that action is 
taken to rectify identified control weaknesses. The systems of 
internal control are designed to provide reasonable assurance 
that policies, processes, tasks, behaviours and other aspects of 
the Fund, taken together, facilitate its effective and efficient 
operation, help to ensure the quality of internal and external 
reporting, and to ensure compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations. Such systems of internal control are designed 
to manage the risks of failure to meet the Fund’s objectives, 
providing reasonable assurance against material loss or 
misstatements.
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PRICIPLE 16 As part of its decision-making in the 
best interests and expectations of the 
Fund, the Board should ensure that a 
member–inclusive approach is adopted, 
which takes into account and balances 
their legitimate and reasonable needs, 
interests and expectations.

The Fund has adopted an inclusive approach in its decision 
making and has put in place the following policies/products:

1. Member Communication Policy - this policy profiles 
the membership of the Fund, outlines their specific 
communication needs and prescribes the appropriate media 
in order to manage and balance the interests of different 
member categories.

2. Dispute Resolution Policy - this policy aims at ensuring 
that member queries and grievances are adequately and 
timeously addressed through the appropriate structures.

3. Service Standards- give the members assurance that 
the services they require are provided within the agreed 
timelines and that their interests and expectations in 
service provision are taken into consideration.

4. Member products 
There is the pre-retirement switch product for members 
nearing retirement or those in the retirement bracket to 
preserve what they have already accumulated as their 
retirement benefits

5. Pre-retirement counselling – the Fund through an 
appointed service provider, provides members who are 
approaching retirement with the necessary financial 
counselling and planning to ensure that they are  able to 
make the right decisions with regard to their retirement.

PRINCIPLE 17 The Board should ensure that the 
Fund responsibly exercises its rights, 
obligations, legitimate and reasonable 
needs, interests and expectations, as 
a holder of beneficial interest in the 
securities/ investments in a company (s) 
( i.e. responsible investment for value 
creation by the companies in which the 
Fund invests.)

The Board outsources investment management functions to 
licensed Asset Managers. The Fund has a direct relationship 
with all its Asset Managers through the execution of portfolio 
management agreements following a rigorous due diligence 
process on the asset managers and the investee companies. 
These agreements clearly articulate the rights, obligations and 
expectations of the Board and are continuously monitored. They 
further prescribe courses of action in the event of breaches in 
order to protect the interests of the Fund.

REQUIREMENT APPLICATION AND COMPLIANCE BY THE BPOPF
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APPENDIX B
TRUSTEES’ QUALIFICATIONS, DESIGNATIONS AND EXPERIENCE

Trustee Designations Educational Qualifications Experience

Mr Solomon Mantswe Director of Departmental 
Management Services 
with the Botswana Police 
Services

Diploma in News 
Agency Journalism

National Diploma in 
Mass Communication

- A qualified journalist with 
over 20 years of experience in 
the field of communications.

- Over 8 years’ experience 
in administration, human 
resources, salaries and 
welfare, external and in-
service training, legal services 
and occupational health and 
safety.  §

Brigadier Charles Nkele Deputy Chief Assistant 
of Staff- Finance – 
Botswana Defence Force

Diploma in Accountancy 
and Business Studies

MSc in National 
Security Strategy

- Management of welfare 
schemes such as Fund Loans, 
Property and Life Insurance.

- Management of business 
operations and budgeting.

Ms. Emma Peloetletse Director of Public 
Services Management – 
Government of Botswana

Post Graduate Diploma 
in Public Finance 
Management and ICT

Bachelor of Commerce 
and  Accounting- 
University of Botswana

- Public Finance Management 
and Budgeting

- Strategic leadership

Ms Ruth Maphorisa Certificate in Provincial 
and Local Government 
Law

Bachelor of Arts- 
Economics and Public 
Administration

Masters of Arts- Rural 
Development

- Public service management

- Strategic management and 
leadership

- Procurement
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Trustee Designations Educational Qualifications Experience

Mr Legomela Molodi General Counsel – Of-
fice of the President of 
Botswana

Bachelor of Laws ( LLB) 

Master of Laws (LLM- 
Environmental Law)  

- 10 years of experience and 
a rich knowledge of the Law 
at a national advisory level.

- Experience in policy 
formulation. 

Mr Tobokani Rari Secretary General - 
BOSETU

Bachelor of Education  - Experienced in industrial 
and labour relations.

- Strategic management and 
leadership.

- Corporate governance

Mr Ketlhalefile 
Motshegwa

Secretary General- 
BLLAWHU

BA Social Sciences- 
Political Science and 
Public Administration

- Experienced in industrial 
and labour relations.

- Strategic management and 
leadership.

- Human Resources 
management

- Corporate governance

Mr Topias Marenga Secretary General - 
BOPEU

Advanced Diploma in 
Human Resource

Diploma in Labour Law

Diploma in Purchasing 
& Supply Management

- Experienced in industrial 
and labour relations.

- Strategic management and 
leadership.

- Human resources and 
procurement

- Corporate governance
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Trustee Designations Educational
Qualifications

Experience

Mr Agang Gabana Secretary General - BTU Bachelor of Science in 
Education

- Experienced in industrial and 
labour relations.

- Strategic management and 
leadership.

- Corporate governance

Ms Neo Joel Project Manager- 
NALCGPWU

Collective Bargaining

Negotiation Skills

Strategic Planning 

Job Evaluation

Grievance Handling

- Experienced in industrial and 
labour relations.

- Strategic management and 
leadership.

- Corporate governance

Ms Rutang Moses Chief Executive officer 
of RH Diamonds 
Limited

Bachelor of Arts

MSc Industrial & 
Labour Relations
Global Leadership 
Programme

- An experienced international 
strategist with over 13 years’ 
experience in the banking 
industry of which the majority 
was attained in Britain at 
Standard Chartered Bank PLC.

- Extensive leadership 
experience spanning several 
Asian and European countries, 
where I have delivered with 
multi-cultural teams, and 
diverse banking strategies across 
different functions.

- Serves on numerous boards 
including Botswana Couriers and 
Logistics since 2017, a member 
of the SADC Parliamentary 
Forum since 2016, as a non-
executive Director of Botswana 
Post and Savings Bank 
Limited since 2013, the Board 
of Trustees for the Duke of 
Edinburgh Charity and Botswana 
Foundation Trust since 2015. 

- A member of the African 
Leadership Network (ALN) since 
2012.

31ANNUAL REPORT



APPENDIX C
TRUSTEES’ MEETINGS ATTENDANCE
Below are tables showing the Trustees’ attendance at Board and Committee Meetings for the year 
2018/19.

1. ATTENDANCE AT BOARD MEETINGS

TRUSTEE 9
May 
2018

15 
June 
2018

12
July 
2018

19
July 
2018

20 
Sept 
2018

22 
Nov 
2018

24
Jan 
2019

21
Feb 
2019

14
Mar 
2019

Mr. Solomon S. Mantswe

Brigadier Charles Nkele A NL
Ms. Emma Peloetletse A
Ms. Ruth M. Maphorisa A A A
Mr. Tobokani Rari

Mr. Ketlhalefile Motshegwa

Mr. Agang Gabana

Mr. Topias Marenga

Ms. Neo D. Joel

Mr. Legomela D. Molodi NYA NYA A
Ms. Rutang R.K. Moses NYA NYA NYA NYA

LEGEND
 -  Present§ A -  Absent NYA - Not yet appointed§NL - No longer on the Board

LEGEND OF ABBREVIATIONS

BOSETU Botswana Secondary School Teachers Union

BLLAHWU Botswana Land Boards Local Authorities & Health Workers Union

BOPEU  Botswana Public Employees Union

NALCGPWU National Amalgamated Local & Central Government & Parastatal Manual Workers 
  Union

BTU Botswana Teachers Union
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3. BENEFITS COMMITTEE MEETINGS ATTENDANCE

4. RISK COMMITTEEE MEETINGS ATTENDANCE

5. AUDIT COMMITTEE ATTENDANCE

TRUSTEE 03/07/2018 23/10/2018 05/02/2019
Brigadier Charles Nkele NL

Ms. Ruth M. Maphorisa A A
Mr. Ketlhalefile Motshegwa

Mr. Agang Gabana

TRUSTEE 01/05/2018 12/11/2018 07/02/2019
Ms Rutang Moses NYA

Ms. Ruth M. Maphorisa

Mr. Ketlhalefile Motshegwa

Ms Neo Dudu Joel

TRUSTEE 05/07/2018 02/11/2018 07/02/2019
Brigadier Charles Nkele

Mr Solomon Mantswe NL NL
Mr Legomela Molodi

Mr Agang Gabana

Mr Topias Marenga A
Mr Tobokani Rari NYA A

2. FINANCE AND INVESTMENT COMMITTEE MEETINGS ATTENDANCE

6. HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE MEETINGS ATTENDANCE

TRUSTEE 11
July 
2018

31
July 
2018

30 
Aug 
2018

27 
Sept 
2019

30 
Oct 
2018

24 
Jan 
2019

31 
Jan 
2019

06 
Mar 
2019

13 
Mar 
2019

Ms. Emma Peloetletse

Mr. Tobokani Rari A A
Mr Legomela Molodi

Ms. Rutang R. K. Moses NYA

TRUSTEE 03/07/2018 05/11/2018 13/11/2018 05/02/2019
Mr. Topias Marenga

Mr. Solomon Mantswe A
Ms. Emma Peloetletse

Ms. Neo D. Joel
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S. Mantswe

E. Peloetletse 
• Employer Trustee R. M. Maphorisa

• Employer Trustee

Brigadier C. Nkele
• Employer Trustee

L. D. Molodi
• Employer Trustee

BOARD OF TRUSTEES

BOARD CHAIRMAN
Employer Trustee
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A. Gabana
• Member Trustee

T. Marenga
• Member Trustee

T. Rari
• Member Trustee

K. M. N. Motshegwa
• Member Trustee

N. D. Joel
• Member Trustee

R. Moses
• Independent Trustee
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Boitumelo Molefe
CEO/ Principal Officer

EXECUTIVE 
MANAGEMENT
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Kwenantle Otukile
Board Secretary/Legal Services

Manager

Gaolatlhe Otsetswe
Fund Administration Director

Ruth Mohurutshe
Finance Director

Bedu Tlhabologang
Corporate Communication 

Manager

Moemedi Malindah
Investment & Portfolio Director

Kagiso Potongwane
Human Capital & Administration Director

Amantle Kerebotswe
Strategy and Change Manager

Neo Keboletse
Information Technology Director

Karabo Luke
Risk & Compliance Manager
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STAKEHOLDER
ENGAGEMENT



There is need to constantly engage our stakeholders. 
This helps us to understand their needs; especially 
our members. We continue to share relevant and 
timely information with them through our various 
communication platforms such as social media, our 
website, publications and face to face communication. 
Our plan is to continue to expand our digital platforms 
to reach a wider audience.

The media also plays a role in conveying important 
messages to our stakeholders through radio interviews, 
press conferences and public interest articles; all of 
which keep the public informed and educated on issues.
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

BOTSWANA PUBLIC 
OFFICERS PENSION FUND

for the year ended 31 
March 2019
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GENERAL  INFORMATION
PRINCIPAL OFFICER

REGISTERED OFFICE

INVESTMENT 
MANAGERS

CUSTODIANS

ATTORNEYS

BANKERS

ACTUARY

Ms Boitumelo Molefe

Plot 61920 Letsema
Office Park Gaborone
+267 3617000

Botswana Insurance Fund Management Ltd
Investec Asset Management Botswana (Pty) Ltd
Allan Gray (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd
Stanbic Investment Management Services (Pty) Ltd 
Messidor Investments (Pty) Ltd
Kgori Capital Botswana (Pty) Ltd
African Alliance Botswana (Pty) Ltd
Botswana Opportunites Partnership
Epoch Investment Partners Inc
Sarasin & Partners LLP
Vontobel Asset Management Inc
Harith General Partners (Pty) Ltd
Harding Loevner
Franklin Templeton Investments
Rubrics Global UCITS Funds Plc
Stenham Trading Inc
Vantage Mezzanine
Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC
Barak Fund Management Limited
Falcon Money Management Funds Ltd
Milltrust International LLP
Moravia Capital Private Equity Fund of Funds S.C.A 
Fundsmith
Legg Mason Global Asset Management
Artisan Partners Global Funds Plc

BNP Paribus Securities Services SCA, Jersey 
Branch First National Bank of Botswana Ltd

Monthe Marumo Attorneys incorporating 
Molatlhegi and Associates
Minchin & Kelly (Botswana)
Werkmans Attorneys

First National Bank of Botswana Ltd
BancABC Botswana Ltd
Stanbic Bank Botswana Ltd

Argen Actuarial Solutions
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NAME DESIGNATION APPOINTED

Mr Solomon Mantswe Chairman - Botswana Police Service 01/04/2018

Brigadier Charles Nkele Employer Trustee - Botswana Defence Force 01/04/2018

Ms Emma Peloetletse Employer Trustee - Ministry of Finance and Economic Development 01/04/2018

Ms Ruth Maphorisa Employer Trustee - Ministry of Health 01/04/2018

Mr Ketlhalefile M N Motshegwa Member Trustee - BLLAWU 01/04/2018

Mr Topias Marenga Member Trustee - BOPEU 01/04/2018

Mr Agang Gabana Member Trustee - BTU 01/04/2018

Mr Tobokani Rari Member Trustee - BOSETU 01/04/2018

Ms Neo D Joel Member Trustee - NALCGPWU 01/04/2018

Mr Legomela D. Molodi Employer Trustee - Office of the President 01/04/2018

Ms Rutang Moses Independent Specialist Trustee 01/04/2018

BOARD OF
TRUSTEES
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY BY THE BOARD 
OF TRUSTEES AND THE PRINCIPAL OFFICER

Botswana Public Officers Pension Fund
(Registration number in terms of the Retirement Funds Act, 2014)
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2019

The Board of Trustees and the Principal Officer of Botswana Public Officers’ Pension Fund are responsible 
for the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 and all other information presented 
therewith. Their responsibility includes the maintenance of true and fair financial records and the 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, the 
rules of the Fund and the provisions of the Retirement Funds Act, 2014.

The fund’s administrator maintains systems of internal control which are designed to provide reasonable 
assurance that the records accurately reflect its transactions and to provide protection against serious 
misuse or loss of fund assets. The Board of Trustees along with the Principal Officer are responsible 
for the implementation, maintenance and monitoring of these systems of internal control. Nothing has 
come to the attention of the Trustees or the Principal Officer to indicate that any significant breakdown 
in the functioning of these systems has occurred during the year under review.

The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the financial statements. The Board of Trustees 
have no reason to believe that the fund will not be a going concern in the foreseeable future based on 
forecasts and available cash resources.

Our external auditors conduct an examination of the financial statements in conformity with International 
Standards on Auditing, which include tests of transactions and selective tests of internal accounting 
controls. Regular meetings are held between the Board of Trustees and our external auditors to review 
matters relating to internal controls and financial reporting. The external auditors have unrestricted 
access to the Board of Trustees.

Approval of annual financial statements

The financial statements set out on pages 50 to 101, which have been prepared on the going concern 
basis, were approved by the Board of Trustees on 03 February 2020 and were signed on their behalf by:

    
Chairman       Principal Officer

Gaborone
03 February 2020
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of the Botswana Public Officers’ Pension Fund (“the Fund”), 
which comprise the statement of assets available for benefits as at 31 March 2019, the statement of 
changes in net assets available for benefits, and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, a 
summary of significant accounting policies and notes to the financial statements, as set out on pages 
50 to 101.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Fund 
as at 31 March 2019, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context 
of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF BOTSWANA PUBLIC OFFICERS’ PENSION FUND



VALUATION OF INVESTMENTS
The disclosure associated with valuation of investments and financial management risks related to 
the same are set out in the financial statements in the following notes:

- Note 1.5 – Financial assets

- Note 1.18 – Critical accounting estimates and judgements – Basis for determining fair values of 
investments

- Note 13 – Investments

- Note 21 – Financial risk management

KEY AUDIT MATTER

The investments comprise of private equities 
and equity funds. The fair value measurement 
of these financial assets significantly affects the 
surplus or deficit of the Fund and disclosures of 
financial risks in the financial statements. Fair 
value calculations are dependent on various 
sources of external and internal data and on 
sophisticated modelling techniques.

The valuation of private equities and equity 
funds is significant in the context of the financial 
statements due to the significant judgement 
required in determining the values of the 
financial assets. The models used to determine 
the fair value gains and losses are complex with 
certain inputs not fully observable.

Private equities which are not traded on a 
formal stock exchange comprise P4.5billion of 
the total P66 billion financial assets held by the 
Fund.

Due to the complexity and significant estimates 
and judgements involved in determining their 
fair values, the valuation of investments was 
considered to be a key audit matter.

HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED

• We assessed the competency, objectivity and 
experience of management’s external experts 
performing the valuations.

• We assessed the judgements and estimates 
applied by management’s external experts 
against our understanding of current market 
practice and conditions. We also obtained 
independently-sourced inputs where available, 
which were compared against the inputs used 
by management’s external expert.

• We performed an independent recalculation 
of the valuations, including a benchmarking 
exercise where relevant information was 
available.

• Where valuation inputs were unobservable, 
we assessed the reasonability of the 
valuation inputs based on supportable and 
comparable information and compared these 
to management’s external experts’ valuation 
inputs.

• We evaluated the adequacy of the disclosures 
made in the financial statements related to 
the valuation of investments in relation to the 
requirements of the relevant financial reporting 
framework.
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MEASUREMENT OF BENEFITS PAYABLE AND PAID
The disclosure associated with valuation of investments and financial management risks related to 
the same are set out in the financial statements in the following notes:

- Note 1.5 – Financial assets

- Note 1.18 – Critical accounting estimates and judgements – Basis for determining fair values of 
investments

- Note 13 – Investments

- Note 21 – Financial risk management

KEY AUDIT MATTER

The Fund has significant member benefit 
liabilities and benefits paid. The gross “With 
Profit Pensioners” liabilities of P4.8 billion and 
“Non-Profit Pensioners” liabilities of P2.5 billion 
as disclosed in note 9, benefits payable of P0.6 
billion disclosed in note 16, the lump sum 
accrued on withdrawal, death and retirement 
of P0.9 billion and the monthly pensions paid 
of P0.6 billion disclosed in the statement of 
changes in net assets available for benefits are 
materially sensitive to changes in the underlying 
assumptions adopted. Management exercises 
significant judgement when determining those 
assumptions particularly the mortality rates, 
inflation rate and pension increase rate.

Due to the historical inaccuracies in the 
maintenance of member records coupled 
with the valuation complexity, significant 
judgements applied by management’s actuarial 
specialists in arriving at member fund credits 
as well as the significance of these balances to 
the financial statements, the measurement of 
benefits payable and paid was considered to be 
a key audit matter in our audit of the financial 
statements.

HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED

• We obtained an understanding of management’s 
process over member record maintenance and 
tested the relevant key controls in place over 
the process.

• We selected a sample of the benefits payable 
and lump sums accrued on withdrawal, 
retirement and death and inspected the member 
files to assess whether the liability had been 
accurately recorded.

• We evaluated the competency, objectivity, 
independence and experience of management’s 
actuaries.

• We evaluated the models and significant 
assumptions applied by management’s 
actuaries in arriving at member fund credits 
including challenging the reasonableness of the 
key estimations of inflation rates and pension 
increase rates by benchmarking against other 
pension fund entities.

• We evaluated the adequacy of the disclosures 
made in the financial statements related to 
the valuation of benefits payable and paid in 
relation to the requirements of the relevant 
financial reporting framework.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The Trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the General 
Information and the Statement of Responsibility by the Board of Trustees and the Principal Officer 
included in the financial statements which we obtained prior to the date of this report, and the Annual 
Report which is expected to be made available to us after that date. Other information does not include 
the financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF TRUSTEES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Trustees are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as Trustees 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the Trustees either intend to liquidate the Fund or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue 
as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine 
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so 
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

KPMG
Certified Auditors
Practicing member: AG Devlin 19960060
22 February 2020
Gaborone
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 
AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS

Members' statutory contributions 753,200,900 687,800,353

Employers contributions 2,182,537,852 2,065,008,250

Members' voluntary contributions 4,743,632 4,718,212

Transfer in from other funds 2,487,747 2,467,034

Contributions - unallocated - 790,139

Total income from members and employer 3 2,942,970,131 2,760,783,988

Rental income 43,411,287 37,610,002

Profit on disposal of investments 4 26,495,341 529,018,019

Interest income 5 745,879,167 695,460,820

Dividend income 6 954,496,162 915,403,676

Other income/(losses) 7 285,859,778 (16,486,377)

Total net income from investments 2,056,141,735 2,161,006,140

Unrealised net fair value gain/(loss) from financial instruments 8 3,450,734,950 (263,328,043)

Net gain from investments 5,506,876,685 1,897,678,097

Management expenses 9 (481,751,214) (440,555,431)

Total surplus before benefits 7,968,095,602 4,217,906,654

Monthly pensions (573,986,956) (510,006,098)

Lump sums accrued on withdrawal (54,606,460) 21,007,631

Lump sums accrued on retirement (504,164,272) (1,794,423,885)

Lump sums accrued on death (294,725,830) (119,495,322)

Total benefits to members (1,427,483,518) (2,402,917,674)

Movement in pension fund account 10 (500,517,475) (109,707,334)

6,040,094,609 1,705,281,646

Transfers for the year

Movement in reserve account 11 261,616,520 344,001,605

Net fund surplus for the year 6,301,711,129 2,049,283,251

Members funds at beginning of the year 51,691,983,045 49,642,699,794

Members funds at year end 57,993,694,174 51,691,983,045

FIGURES IN PULA NOTE(S) 2019 2018
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STATEMENT OF ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR 
BENEFITS AS AT 31 MARCH 2019

ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 12 21,867,704 8,677,685

Investments 13 66,343,837,982 60,259,494,299

Accounts receivables 5,348,449 12,314,845

Cash and cash equivalents 14 148,637,996 138,864,504

Total assets 66,519,692,131 60,419,351,333
 

Funds, reserves and liabilities
FUNDS AND RESERVES

Active and deferred members’ fund account 57,993,694,174 51,691,983,045

Reserve account 11 593,887,208 855,503,728

58,587,581,382 52,547,486,773

LIABILITIES

Pensioners’ fund account - With profit pensioners 10 4,755,004,902 4,884,375,652

Pensioners' fund account - Non-profit pensioners 10 2,520,812,564 1,890,924,339

Benefits payable 15 584,877,528 1,046,692,080

Accounts payable 71,415,755 49,872,489

Total liabilities 7,932,110,749 7,871,864,560

Total funds, reserves and liabilities 66,519,692,131 60,419,351,333
 

FIGURES IN PULA NOTE(S) 2019 2018
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STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities

Surplus for the year before transfer to reserves 6,040,094,609 1,705,281,646
 
ADJUSTMENTS FOR:

Gain on disposal of investments (26,495,341) (529,018,019)

Unrealised net (gain)/loss from investment securities (3,450,734,950) 263,328,043

Depreciation and amortisation 1,285,532 4,448,507

Lump sums accrued on withdrawal 54,606,460 (21,007,631)

Monthly pensions 573,986,956 510,006,098

Lump sums accrued on retirement 504,164,272 1,794,423,885

Lump sums accrued on death 294,725,830 119,495,322

Realised gain on disposal of investments 26,495,341 529,018,019

CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL:

Movement in accounts receivables 6,966,396 (5,419,962)

Movement in pension liabilities 500,517,475 109,707,334

Movements in accounts payable 21,543,266 21,896,061

Monthly pensions (573,986,956) (510,006,098)

Lump sum payments on death (230,340,292) (170,300,164)

Lump sum payments on withdrawal (37,402,726) (50,327,929)

Lump sum payments on retirement (1,047,568,096) (1,610,577,474)

Net cash generated from operating activities 2,657,857,776 2,160,947,638
 
Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 12 (14,546,291) (1,810,653)

Sale of property, plant and equipment 12 70,740 -

Net purchase of investments (2,633,608,733) (2,601,620,567)

Net cash used in investing activities (2,648,084,284) (2,603,431,220)
 
Net movement in cash and cash equivalents 9,773,492 (442,483,582)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 138,864,504 581,348,086

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 14 148,637,996 138,864,504

FIGURES IN PULA NOTE(S) 2019 2018
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. REPORTING 
ENTITY
Botswana Public Officers’ 
Pension Fund (‘the Fund’) is 
an approved Pension Fund 
registered and domiciled in 
Botswana under the Retirement 
Funds Act, 2014.

The investment activities of the 
Fund are managed by various 
Fund Managers as outlined 
in the General Information 
section.

1.1 BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

 
The financial statements of the 
Fund were authorised for issue 
by the Board of Trustees on 03 
February 2020.

The financial statements 
incorporate the following 
accounting policies, which are 
consistent with those applied 
in the previous financial year, 
except where otherwise stated.

1.2 FUNCTIONAL AND 
PRESENTATION CURRENCY
 
The financial statements are 
presented in Botswana Pula, 
which is the Fund’s functional 
currency. “Functional currency” 
is the currency of the primary 
environment in which the Fund 
operates. If indicators of the 
primary economic environment 
are mixed, then management 
uses its judgement to determine 
the functional currency that 
most faithfully represents 
the economic effect  of the 
underlying transactions, events 
and conditions. The majority 
of the Fund’s investments and 
transactions are denominated 
in Pula. Pension contributions 
and benefits paid out are 
determined on net assets 
value, received and paid out 
in Pula. A significant amount 
of the expenses, including 
management fees, custodian 
fees and administration fees, 
are denominated and paid 
out in Pula. Accordingly, 
management has determined 
the functional currency of the 
Fund is Pula.

All amounts are rounded to the 
nearest Pula, unless otherwise 
indicated.

1.3 USE OF ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGEMENTS

In preparing the financial 
statements, management has 
made judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect 
the application of accounting 
policies and the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses. Actual 
results may differ from these 
estimates.

Estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions 
to estimates are recognised 
prospectively.

Information about assumptions 
and estimation uncertainty 
that have a significant risk 
of resulting in a material 
adjustment in the year ended 
31 March 2019 is included 
in Note 13 and relates to the 
determination of fair values 
of financial instruments with 
significant unobservable 
inputs. Critical accounting 
judgements and estimates are 
further described in significant 
accounting policy 1.18 relating 
to the fair value of unlisted 
equity instruments.
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1.4 BENEFITS PAYABLE

Benefits include lump sum 
payments on withdrawal, 
death and retirement

When a member retires 
from service after reaching 
retirement age, one third of 
the balance accrued in the 
member account is paid in 
the form of cash as lump sum 
payment on retirement. The 
balance is transferred into an 
annuity account either within 
the Fund or to an external 
annuity provider, in which case 
this is classified as lump sum 
payment on withdrawal.

Lump sum entitlements are 
accounted for on the accrual 
basis when the member 
becomes entitled thereto 
through compliance with the 
rules of the Fund.

The Fund operates two types 
of annuities (participating 
annuities and non-participating 
annuities) and payments made 
out of these annuities are 
disclosed as monthly pensions 
in the statement of changes 
in net assets available for 
benefits.

Participating (with profit) 
annuities

The liabilities are equated to the 
fair value of the retrospectively 
accumulated underlying assets. 

This is equivalent to the best 
estimate prospective liability 
calculation allowing for future 
investment returns. Members’ 
entitlements emerge in line 
with return on investments less 
expenses incurred consistent 
with work done and risk borne 
over the lifetime of annuities.
 

Non-participating (non-
profit) annuity business

Non-participating annuity 
instalments and future 
expenses in respect of these 
instalments are discounted at 
market interest rates based 
on the bond yield curve at 
the valuation date, reduced by 
the prescribed and additional 
margin, as well as investment 
management expenses. All 
profits or losses accrue to the 
member when incurred.
Annuities are paid to members 
in the form of monthly 
pensions, which are accounted 
for on the accrual basis.

1.5 FINANCIAL ASSETS 
AND FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES - IFRS 9 
(POLICY APPLICABLE 
AFTER 1 APRIL 2018)

INITIAL RECOGNITION AND 
MEASUREMENT

Financial assets and financial 
liabilities are recognised when 

the entity becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument. Regular 
way purchases and sales of 
financial assets are recognised 
on trade-date, the date on 
which the Fund commits to 
purchase or sell the asset.

At initial recognition, the fund 
measures a financial asset 
or financial liability at its 
fair value plus or minus, in 
the case of a financial asset 
or financial liability not at 
fair value through profit or 
loss, transaction costs that 
are incremental and directly 
attributable to the acquisition 
or issue of the financial asset 
or financial liability, such 
as fees and commissions. 
Transaction costs of financial 
assets and financial liabilities 
carried at fair value through 
profit or loss are expensed in 
statement of changes in net 
assets available for benefits. 
When the fair value of financial 
assets and liabilities differs 
from the transaction price on 
initial recognition, the Fund 
recognises the difference as 
follows:

(a) When the fair value 
is evidenced by a quoted 
price in an active market 
for an identical asset or 
liability (i.e. a Level 1 input) 
or based on a valuation 
technique that uses only 
data from observable 
markets, the difference is 
recognised as a gain or 
loss.
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(b) In all other cases, the 
difference is deferred and 
the timing of recognition 
of deferred day one profit 
or loss is determined 
individually. It is either 
amortised over the life of 
the instrument, deferred 
until the instrument’s fair 
value can be determined 
using market observable 
inputs, or realised through 
settlement.

MEASUREMENT METHODS

Amortised cost and effective 
interest rate

The amortised cost is 
the amount at which the 
financial asset or financial 
liability is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal 
repayments, plus or minus the 
cumulative amortisation using 
the effective interest method 
of any difference between 
that initial amount and the 
maturity amount and, for 
financial assets, adjusted for 
any loss allowance.

The effective interest rate 
is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future 
cash payments or receipts 
through the expected life of 
the financial asset or financial 
liability to the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset (i.e. 
its amortised cost before any 
impairment allowance) or to 
the amortised cost of a financial 

liability. The calculation does 
not consider expected credit 
losses and includes transaction 
costs, premiums or discounts 
and fees and points paid or 
received that are integral to 
the effective interest rate, such 
as origination fees.

When the Fund revises the 
estimates of future cash flows, 
the carrying amount of the 
respective financial assets or 
financial liability is adjusted 
to reflect the new estimate 
discounted using the original 
effective interest rate. Any 
changes are recognised in the 
statement of changes in net 
assets available for benefits.

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Classification and 
subsequent measurement

From 1 April 2018, the Fund 
has applied IFRS 9 and 
classifies its financial assets 
in the following measurement 
categories:

- Fair value through profit 
and loss (FVTPL)
- Amortised cost

Financial assets are not 
reclassified subsequent to 
their initial recognition unless 
the Fund changes its business 
model for managing financial 
assets, in which case all 
affected financial assets are 
reclassified on the first day 
of the first reporting period 

following the change in the 
business model.
A financial asset is measured at 
amortised cost if it meets both 
of the following conditions and 
is not designated at FVTPL:

- it is held within a business 
model whose objective is 
to hold assets to collect 
contractual cashflows; and

- its contractual terms give 
rise to specified dates to 
cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and 
interest on the principal 
amounts outstanding.

AMORTISED COST AND 
EFFECTIVE INTEREST RATE

The amortised cost is 
the amount at which the 
financial asset or financial 
liability is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal 
repayments, plus or minus the 
cumulative amortisation using 
the effective interest method 
of any difference between 
that initial amount and the 
maturity amount and, for 
financial assets, adjusted for 
any loss allowance.

The effective interest rate 
is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future 
cash payments or receipts 
through the expected life of 
the financial asset or financial 
liability to the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset (i.e. 
its amortised cost before any 
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impairment allowance) or to 
the amortised cost of a financial 
liability. The calculation does 
not consider expected credit 
losses and includes transaction 
costs, premiums or discounts 
and fees and points paid or 
received that are integral to 
the effective interest rate, such 
as origination fees.

When the Fund revises the 
estimates of future cash flows, 
the carrying amount of the 
respective financial assets or 
financial liability is adjusted 
to reflect the new estimate 
discounted using the original 
effective interest rate. Any 
changes are recognised in 
profit or loss.

THE CLASSIFICATION 
REQUIREMENTS FOR 
EQUITY INSTRUMENTS ARE 
DESCRIBED BELOW:

Debt instruments

Debt instruments are those 
instruments that meet the 
definition of a financial liability 
from the issuer’s perspective, 
such as loans, government 
and corporate bonds and 
trade receivables purchased 
from clients in factoring 
arrangements without 
recourse.

CLASSIFICATION 
AND SUBSEQUENT 

MEASUREMENT OF DEBT 
INSTRUMENTS DEPEND ON:

• the Fund’s business model 
for managing the asset; and

• the cash flow characteristics 
of the asset.

Based on these factors, 
the Fund classifies its debt 
instruments into one of the 
following two measurement 
categories:

Amortised cost:

Assets that are held for 
collection of contractual cash 
flows where those cash flows 
represent solely payments of 
principal and interest (‘SPPI’), 
and that are not designated 
at FVPL, are measured at 
amortised cost. The carrying 
amount of these assets is 
adjusted by any expected credit 
loss allowance recognised and 
measured using the simplified 
expected loss model. Interest 
income from these financial 
assets is included in ‘Interest 
and similar income’ using the 
effective interest rate method.

Fair value through profit or 
loss:

Assets that do not meet the 
criteria for amortised cost are 
measured at fair value through 
profit or loss. A gain or loss 
on a debt investment that is 
subsequently measured at fair 

value through profit or loss. 
Interest income from these 
financial assets is included in 
‘Interest income’.

Business model assessment:

The business model reflects 
how the Fund manages the 
assets in order to generate 
cash flows. That is, whether 
the Fund’s objective is solely 
to collect the contractual cash 
flows from the assets or is to 
collect both the contractual 
cash flows and cash flows 
arising from the sale of assets. 
If neither of these is applicable 
(e.g. financial assets are held 
for trading purposes), then the 
financial assets are classified 
as part of ‘other’ business 
model and measured at FVPTL.

Factors considered by the Fund 
in determining the business 
model for a group of assets 
include past experience on 
how the cash flows for these 
assets were collected, how 
the asset’s performance is 
evaluated and reported to 
key management personnel, 
how risks are assessed and 
managed and how managers 
are compensated. For example, 
the liquidity portfolio of assets, 
which is held by the fund as 
part of liquidity management 
and is generally classified 
within the hold to collect and 
sell business model. Securities 
held for trading are held 
principally for the purpose of 
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selling in the near term or are 
part of a portfolio of financial 
instruments that are managed 
together and for which there 
is evidence of a recent actual 
pattern of short-term profit-
taking.

These securities are classified 
in the ‘other’ business model 
and measured at FVTPL.

Solely Payments of Principal 
and Interest (SPPI):

Where the business model is to 
hold assets to collect contractual 
cash flows or to collect 
contractual cash flows and sell, 
the fund assesses whether the 
financial instruments’ cash 
flows represent the ‘SPPI test’. 
In making this assessment, 
the fund considers whether 
the contractual cash flows are 
consistent with a basic lending 
arrangement i.e. interest 
includes only consideration for 
the time value of money, credit 
risk, other basic lending risks 
and a profit margin that is 
consistent with a basic lending 
arrangement.

Where the contractual terms 
introduce exposure to risk or 
volatility that are inconsistent 
with a basic lending 
arrangement, the related 
financial asset is classified and 
measured at fair value through 
profit or loss.
The Fund reclassifies debt 
investments when and only 

when its business model 
for managing those assets 
changes. The reclassification 
takes place from the start of the 
first reporting period following 
the change. Such changes are 
expected to be very infrequent 
and none occurred during the 
period.

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial 
measurement, financial assets 
at FVTPL such as equity 
investments are measured 
at fair value. Net gains and 
losses, including any interest 
or dividend income, are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised 
cost such as cash and 
cash equivalents, accounts 
receivables due from 
participating employers 
and other third parties are 
subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. 
The amortised cost is reduced 
by impairment losses. Interest 
income, foreign exchange gains 
and losses and impairment are 
recognised in profit or loss. Any 
gain or loss on derecognition is 
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments are 
instruments that meet the 
definition of equity from the 
issuer’s perspective; that is, 
instruments that do not contain 
a contractual obligation to pay 

and that evidence a residual 
interest in the issuer’s net 
assets.

The Fund measures all equity 
investments at fair value 
through profit or loss. The 
Fund does not designate equity 
investments as fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income (FVOCI) irrespective 
of the investment horizon. 
Gains and losses on equity 
investments at FVTPL are 
included in the statement of 
changes in net assets available 
for benefits. Dividend income is 
recognised upon declaration.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents 
comprise deposits with banks 
and highly liquid financial 
assets with maturities of 
three months or less from the 
date of acquisition that are 
subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in their fair value 
and are used by the Fund in 
the management of short-
term commitments, other than 
collateral provided in respect 
of derivatives and securities 
borrowing transactions. Cash 
and cash equivalents are 
measured at amortised cost.

Impairment of financial 
assets

The Fund recognises a loss 
allowance for expected credit 
losses (ECL) on investments 
in debt instruments that are 
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measured at amortised cost 
such accounts receivables. 
The amount of expected 
credit losses is updated at 
each reporting date to reflect 
changes in credit risk since 
initial recognition of the 
respective financial instrument.

The Fund always recognises 
lifetime ECL for accounts 
receivables. The expected 
credit losses on these financial 
assets are estimated using 
simplified ECL model based 
on the provision matrix. The 
ECL model takes into account 
Fund’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for factors 
that are specific to the debtors, 
general economic conditions 
and an assessment of both the 
current as well as the forecast 
direction of conditions at the 
reporting date. Lifetime ECL 
represents the expected credit 
losses that will result from all 
possible default events over 
the expected life of a financial 
instrument.

Derecognition of financial 
assets

The Fund derecognises a 
financial asset only when the 
contractual rights to the cash 
flows from the asset expire, or 
when it transfers the financial 
asset and substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership 
of the asset to another entity. 
If the Fund neither transfers 
nor retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership 

and continues to control the 
transferred asset, the Centre 
recognises its retained interest 
in the asset and an associated 
liability for amounts it may 
have to pay.

On derecognition of a financial 
asset measured at amortised 
cost, the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and 
the sum of the consideration 
received and receivable is 
recognised in statement of 
changes in net assets available 
for benefits.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are 
measured subsequently at 
amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. The 
effective interest method is 
a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the 
relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments (including 
all fees and points paid or 
received that form an integral 
part of the effective interest 
rate, transaction costs and 
other premiums or discounts) 
through the expected life of 
the financial liability, or (where 
appropriate) a shorter period, 
to the amortised cost of a 
financial
 liability.

Derecognition of financial 
liabilities

The Fund derecognises financial 
liabilities when, and only when, 
the Fund’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or have 
expired. The difference between 
the carrying amount of the 
financial liability derecognised 
and the consideration paid 
and payable is recognised in 
statement of changes in net 
assets available for benefits.

1.6 FINANCIAL ASSETS 
AND LIABILITIES - IAS 
39 (POLICY APPLICABLE 
BEFORE 1 APRIL 2018) 

CLASSIFICATION

The Fund classifies its financial 
assets and financial liabilities 
in the following categories:

• at fair value through profit 
or loss: debt securities and 
equity investments.

• loans and receivables: 
cash and cash equivalents. 
The Fund’s loans and 
receivables comprise 
‘transfers receivables’, 
‘contribution receivable’ and 
‘cash and cash equivalents’ 
in the statement of funds 
and net assets. Management 
determines the classification 
of its financial assets at 
initial recognition.
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RECOGNITION AND 
MEASUREMENT

Financial assets and financial 
liabilities are initially 
recognised on the trade date, 
which is the date on which 
the Fund becomes party to 
the contractual provisions 
of the instrument. Other 
financial assets and liabilities 
are recognised on the date on 
which they are originated.

Financial assets and financial 
liabilities are recognised at fair 
value, with transaction costs 
recognised in surplus for the 
year. ‘Fair value’ is the price 
that would be received to sell 
an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at 
the measurement date in the 
principal or, in its absence, the 
most advantageous market 
to which the Fund has access 
at that date. The fair value 
of a liability reflects its non-
performance risk.

When available, the Fund 
measures the fair value of an 
instrument using the quoted 
price in an active market for 
that instrument. A market 
is regarded as ‘active’ if 
transactions for the asset 
or liability take place with 
sufficient frequency and volume 
to provide pricing information 
on an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an 
active market, then the Fund 
uses valuation techniques that 

maximise the use of relevant 
observable inputs and minimise 
the use of unobservable inputs. 
The chosen valuation technique 
incorporates all of the factors 
that market participants would 
take into account in pricing a 
transaction.

The Fund recognises transfers 
between levels of the fair value 
hierarchy as at the end of the 
reporting period during which 
the change has occurred.

IMPAIRMENT

The Fund assesses at each 
reporting date whether there 
is objective evidence that a 
financial asset or a group of 
financial assets is impaired. A 
financial asset or a group of 
financial assets is ‘impaired’ if 
there is objective evidence of 
impairment as a result of one 
or more events that occurred 
after the initial recognition of 
the asset (a ‘loss event’) and 
that loss event (or events) had 
an impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the 
financial asset or group of 
financial assets that can be 
estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial 
assets are impaired includes 
significant financial difficulty of 
the borrower or issuer, default 
or delinquency by a borrower 
or issuer, restructuring of the 
amount due on terms that 
the Fund would not otherwise 
consider, indications that a 

borrower or issuer will enter 
bankruptcy, or adverse changes 
in the payment status of the 
borrowers.

DERECOGNITION

The Fund derecognises a 
financial asset when the 
contractual rights to the cash 
flows from the asset expire, 
or it transfers the rights to 
receive the contractual cash 
flows in a transaction in which 
substantially all of the risks 
and rewards of ownership 
of the financial asset are 
transferred or in which the 
Fund neither transfers nor 
retains substantially all of the 
risks and rewards of ownership 
and does not retain control of 
the financial asset.

On derecognition of a financial 
asset, the difference between 
the carrying amount of the 
asset (or the carrying amount 
allocated to the portion of the 
asset that is derecognised) 
and the consideration received 
(including any new asset 
obtained less any new liability 
assumed) is recognised in 
surplus. Any interest in such 
transferred financial assets 
that is created or retained by 
the Fund is recognised as a 
separate asset or liability.
The Fund enters into 
transactions whereby it 
transfers assets recognised on 
its statement of assets available 
for benefits, but retains either 
all or substantially all of 
the risks and rewards of the 
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transferred assets or a portion 
of them. If all or substantially 
all of the risks and rewards are 
retained, then the transferred 
assets are not derecognised. 
Transfers of assets with 
retention of all or substantially 
all of the risks and rewards 
include sale and repurchase 
transactions.
The Fund derecognises a 
financial liability when its 
contractual obligations are 
discharged or cancelled or 
expire.

OFFSETTING FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial 
liabilities are offset and the 
net amount presented in the 
statements of assets available 
for benefits when, and only 
when, the Fund has a legal 
right to offset the amounts 
and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis or realise 
the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. Income and 
expenses are presented on a 
net basis for gains and losses 
from financial instruments and 
foreign exchange gains and 
losses.

SPECIFIC INSTRUMENTS

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents 
comprise deposits with banks 

and highly liquid financial 
assets with maturities of 
three months or less from the 
date of acquisition that are 
subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in their fair value 
and are used by the Fund in 
the management of short-term 
commitments, other than cash 
collateral provided in respect 
of derivatives and securities 
borrowing transactions.

1.7 FOREIGN CURRENCY

Transactions in foreign 
currencies are translated in 
Pula at the exchange rate at 
the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated 
to Pula at the exchange rate 
at the reporting date. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated 
into Pula at the exchange rate 
at the date on which the fair 
value was determined.

Foreign currency differences 
arising from retranslation are 
recognised as a component of 
net gain/loss from financial 
instruments in the Fund’s 
statement of changes in net 
assets available for benefits.

1.8 PROPERTY, PLANT 
AND EQUIPMENT

Land and buildings held 
for use in the provision of 
services, or for administrative 
purposes, are stated in the 
statement of   assets available 
for benefits at cost or, where 
applicable, at their revalued 
amounts, being the fair value 
at the date of revaluation, less 
any subsequent accumulated 
depreciation and subsequent 
accumulated impairment 
losses. Properties in the course 
of construction, production, 
rental or administrative 
purposes or for purposes not yet 
determined are carried at cost, 
less any recognised impairment 
loss. Cost includes professional 
fees and, for qualifying assets, 
borrowing costs is capitalized 
in accordance with the Fund’s 
accounting policy. Depreciation 
of these assets commences 
when the assets are ready for 
their intended use.

Depreciation is charged so 
as to write off the cost or 
valuation of assets, other than 
freehold land and properties 
under construction, over their 
estimated useful lives, using 
the straight-line method. Each 
part of property, plant and 
equipment with a cost that 
is significant in relation to 
the total cost of the item is 
depreciated separately.
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The depreciation rates applicable are: 

Item Depreciation method Depreciation rate

Leasehold property Straight line Duration of lease

Furniture and fixtures Straight line 20%

Motor vehicles Straight line 25%

Office equipment Straight line 20%

IT equipment Straight line 33%

Computer software Straight line 33%

The residual value of each part of property, plant and equipment, 
if not insignificant, is reassessed annually. The useful lives of 
property, plant and equipment items are assessed annually. Repairs 
and maintenance costs are charged to statement of changes in 
net assets available for benefits during the financial period in 
which these costs are incurred. The cost of a major renovation is 
included in the carrying amount of an asset where it is probable 
that future economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed 
standard of performance of the existing asset will flow to the Fund. 
Major renovations are depreciated over the remaining useful life of 
the related asset. Gains and losses on disposal are determined by 
comparing proceeds with the carrying amounts and included in the 
statement of changes in net assets available for benefits.

1.9 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES

Receivables are amounts due from participating employers and 
other third parties. They are initially recognised at fair value 
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less provision for impairment.
 

1.10 RELATED PARTIES

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability 
to control the other party or to exercise significant influence over 
the other in making financial or operational decisions. A number 
of transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal 
course of business. These transactions are carried out under normal 
commercial terms and conditions at market rates, as summarised 
in the notes to the financial statements.

1.11 INVESTMENT 
PROPERTY

Investment properties are 
land and/or buildings which 
are owned or held under a 
leasehold interest to earn 
rental income and/or for capital 
appreciation, and for which, 
the Fund does not occupy a 
significant portion. Property 
that is being constructed 
or developed for future use 
as investment property is 
classified as investment 
property. Investment properties 
are initially measured at cost 
and subsequently at fair 
value with any change therein 
recognised in the statement of 
changes in net assets available 
for benefits.

These valuations are performed 
in accordance with the guidance 
issued by the International 
Valuation Standards Committee 
and are prepared or reviewed 
periodically by independent 
external valuers.

The fair value of investment 
properties reflects, among 
other things, rental income 
from current leases and 
assumptions about rental 
income from future leases in 
the light of current market 
conditions. The fair value also 
reflects, on a similar basis, 
any cash outflows that could 
be expected in respect of the 
properties. Any gain or loss 
arising from a change in fair 
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value or from the retirement 
or disposal of an investment 
property is recognised in the 
statement of changes in net 
assets available for benefits.

Subsequent costs are included 
in the asset’s carrying amount 
only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits 
associated with the item will 
flow to the Fund and the cost 
of the item can be measured 
reliably. All other repairs 
and maintenance costs are 
expensed during the financial 
period in which they are 
incurred. When the Fund holds 
a property interest under an 
operating lease to earn rental 
income and/or for capital 
appreciation, the interest is 
classified and accounted for 
as an investment property on 
a property-by-property basis. 
Any such property interest 
which has been classified as 
an investment property is 
accounted for as if it were held 
under a finance lease and the 
same accounting policies are 
applied to that interest as are 
applied to other investment 
properties leased under finance 
leases.

If an investment property 
becomes owner-occupied, it 
is reclassified as property, 
plant and equipment and 
its fair value at the date of 
reclassification becomes its 
carrying value for accounting 
purposes. Investment property 
that is being redeveloped 
for continued future use as 

investment property, continues 
to be measured at fair value 
and is not reclassified as 
property, plant and equipment 
during the redevelopment.

1.12 CONTRIBUTIONS

Contributions from both the 
employer and the employee 
are accounted for when 
received by the Fund. Members’ 
statutory contributions consist 
of 5% of the members’ 
pensionable salary. Employer 
contributions consists of 15% 
of the pensionable salary of the 
Fund’s members. Members are 
also allowed to make voluntary 
contributions to the Fund.

1.13 TRANSFERS

Transfers in - other funds

Transfers in from other funds 
relate to new members joining 
the Fund on attainment 
of employment with the 
Government of Botswana. 
These are recognised when 
the transfer values have been 
certified by the actuaries 
and agreed by the respective 
employer agencies.

Transfers in - Government of 
Botswana

Government transfers are 
recognised when the Fund has 
accepted liability of the new 
members being transferred 
from other Government pension 

plans. Liability is accepted 
when the actuarial valuation of 
the transfer amount is carried 
out and the amount has been 
agreed upon between the 
Government of Botswana and 
the Fund.

1.14 INTEREST

Interest income is recognised 
in surplus for the year, using 
the effective interest method. 
The effective interest rate is the 
rate that exactly discounts the 
estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the 
financial instrument (or, when 
appropriate, a shorter period) 
to the carrying amount of the 
financial instrument on initial 
recognition. When calculating 
the effective interest rate, 
the Fund estimates future 
cash flows considering all 
contractual terms of the 
financial instrument, but not 
future credit losses.

1.15 DIVIDEND INCOME

Dividend income is recognised 
in surplus for the year on the 
date on which the right to 
receive payment is established. 
For quoted equity securities, 
this is usually the ex-dividend 
date. For unquoted equity 
securities, this is usually the 
date on which the shareholders 
approve the payment of a 
dividend.
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1.16 RENTAL INCOME

Rental income from investment 
property is recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the 
lease term. Lease incentives 
granted are recognised as an 
integral part of the total rental 
income, over the term of the 
lease.

1.17 NET FAIR VALUE 
GAIN/LOSS FROM 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Net fair value gain or loss 
from financial instruments is 
calculated using the average 
cost method and includes all 
realised and unrealised fair 
value changes and foreign 
exchange differences, but 
excludes interest and dividend 
income.

1.18 CRITICAL 
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
AND JUDGEMENTS

In preparint the financial 
statements, the Fund makes 
estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application 
of accounting policies and 
the reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, income 
and expenses. The resulting 
accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the 
related actual results. The 
estimates and assumptions 
that have a significant risk of 

causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are outlined 
below:

(A) BASIS FOR DETERMINING 
FAIR VALUES OF 
INVESTMENTS

The determination of fair values 
for assets which are not listed 
on public markets is performed 
annually. These assets include 
direct property holdings, 
interest in private equity 
funds and direct investments 
in unlisted entities. Some of 
these investments may have 
been acquired through public 
markets but have de-listed and 
are now privately held.

This exercise is done on an 
annual basis through third 
parties such as accounting 
firms, corporate finance firms 
and specialist firms such as 
property specialists. Where 
possible, in-house resources 
may be deployed for such tasks.

The methodology employed 
includes standard valuation 
techniques such as discounted 
cash flow (an income approach 
to valuation) and market 
approaches. The commonest 
discounted cash flow valuation 
techniques applied in these 
valuations are the Dividend 
Discount Model (DDM) and the 
Free Cash Flow to Equity Model 
(FCFE).

The market approaches to 
valuation are either trading 
multiples or transaction 
multiples. Trading multiples 
relate to the multiples at 
which the assets could trade 
on markets as deduced from 
comparable listed asset trading 
multiples. For transaction 
multiples value is determined 
by comparing the subject asset 
to comparable assets, if any 
have been purchased, sold or 
merged in the recent past.

In private equity funds, the 
BPOPF accepts valuations from 
these funds and where it is not 
satisfied it uses provisions in 
the agreements such as Limited 
Partner Advisory Committees to 
call for independent valuations.
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The table below shows the sensitivity analysis on valuation on critical estimates used in discounted free 
cash flow model:

(+) 2% (-) 2% (+) 2% (-) 2%

P '000 P '000 P '000 P '000 P '000

Goldwing (Pty) Ltd t/a Cell City 138,000 125,862 189,361 182,748 130,096

DECI Investments (Pty) Ltd 2,025,000 1,846,894 2,778,664 2,681,630 1,909,012

Puma Energy Botswana (Pty) Ltd 132,000 144,560 214,280 200,180 154,260

2,295,000 2,117,316 3,182,305 3,064,558 2,193,368

2019
VALUE RESULTING FROM CHANGES INExisting Value

Discount Rate terminal growth rate

(+) 2% (-) 2% (+) 2% (-) 2%

P '000 P '000 P '000 P '000 P '000

DECI Investments (Pty) Ltd 1,942,500 1,694,083 2,302,673 2,257,047 1,725,524

Feune (Pty) Ltd 157,440 - - - -

Puma Energy Boswana (Pty) Ltd 84,500 68,931 106,629 96,473 75,884

2,184,440 1,763,014 2,409,302 2,353,520 1,801,408

2018
VALUE RESULTING FROM CHANGES INExisting Value

Discount Rate terminal growth rate

(B) PRINCIPAL ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS     

Another significant area relates to the measurement of member benefit obligations including key 
actuarial assumptions applied by Management’s actuarial specialists in arriving at member fund credits.

Key actuarial assumptions for ‘with profit’ pensioner liability valuation are as follows:

* Post retirement mortality assumptions follow that of PA(90) mortality table with adjustments of -1 
for both males and females to allow for mortality improvements.

2019 2018

Pensioner mortality rates * *

Inflation 2.72 % 2.75 %

Pension increase 2.17 % 2.20 %
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2. NEW 
STANDARDS AND 
INTERPRETATIONS
2.1 STANDARDS AND 
INTERPRETATIONS 
EFFECTIVE AND ADOPTED IN 
THE CURRENT YEAR

The Fund has adopted the 
following standards and 
interpretations that are 
applicable to the Fund and 
are effective for the current 
financial year :

AMENDMENTS TO IAS 
40: TRANSFERS OF 
INVESTMENT PROPERTY

The amendment deals 
specifically with circumstances 
under which property must 
be transferred to or from 
investment property. The 
amendment now requires that 
a change in use of property 
only occurs when the property 
first meets, or ceases to meet,  
the definition of investment 
property and that there is 
evidence of a change in use. 
The amendment specifies that 
a change in management’s 
intentions for use of the 
property, do not, in isolation, 
provide evidence of a change 
in use.

The effective date of the 
amendment is for financial 
years beginning on or after 1 
January 2018.

The Fund has adopted the 
amendment for the first time in 
the 2019 financial statements.

The impact of the amendment 
is not material.

AMENDMENTS TO IFRIC 
22: FOREIGN CURRENCY 
TRANSACTIONS AND 
ADVANCE CONSIDERATION

The interpretation applies to 
circumstances when an entity 
has either paid or received 
an amount of consideration 
in advance and in a foreign 
currency, resulting in a non-
monetary asset or liability being 
recognised. The specific issue 
addressed by the interpretation 
is how to determine the date 
of the transaction for the 
purposes of determining the 
exchange rate to use on the 
initial recognition of the related 
asset, expense or income when 
the non-monetary asset or 
liability is derecognised.

The interpretation specifies 
that the date of the transaction, 
for purposes of determining 
the exchange rate to apply, is 
the date on which the entity 
initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or liability.

The effective date of the 
interpretation is for financial 
years beginning on or after 1 
January 2018. The Fund has 
adopted the interpretation 
for the first time in the 2019 
financial statements.

The impact of the interpretation 
is not material.

AMENDMENTS TO IFRS 15: 
CLARIFICATIONS TO IFRS 15 
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS 
WITH CUSTOMERS

The amendment provides 
clarification and further 
guidance regarding certain 
issues in IFRS 15. These 
items include guidance in 
assessing whether promises 
to transfer goods or services 
are separately identifiable; 
guidance regarding agent 
versus principal considerations; 
and guidance regarding 
licenses and royalties.

The effective date of the 
amendment is for financial 
years beginning on or after 
1 January 2018. The Fund 
has adopted the amendment 
for the first time in the 2019 
financial statements.
It is unlikely that the 
amendment will have a 
material impact on the Fund’s 
financial statements.

ADOPTION OF IFRS 9 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The standard sets out 
requirements for recognising 
and measuring financial assets, 
financial liabilities and some 
contracts to buy or sell non-
financial items. This standard 
replaces IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement.
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The Fund applied the transitional provision of IFRS 9 (7.2.15), hence comparative figures have not been 
restated. The Fund recognised the difference between the carrying amount of financial instruments as 
at 31 March 2018 and the carrying amount at the beginning of the annual reporting period (1 April 
2018 ), which is the date of initial application in the opening reserve account of the annual reporting 
period ended 31 March 2019.

The adoption of IFRS 9 has resulted in changes in the accounting policies for recognition, classification 
and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities and impairment of financial assets. IFRS 
9 also significantly amends other standards dealing with financial instruments such as IFRS 7.

Set out below are disclosures relating to the impact of adoption of IFRS 9 on the Fund. Further details 
of the specific IFRS 9 accounting policies applied in the current period are disclosed elsewhere in the 
financial statements:

(a) Reconciliation of impairment allowance balance from IAS 39 to IFRS 9

The following table reconciles the prior period’s closing impairment allowance measured in accordance 
with the IAS 39 incurred loss model to the new impairment allowance measured in accordance with the 
IFRS 9 expected loss model at 1 April 2018:

(b) Classification and measurement of financial instruments

There were no changes to the classification and measurement of financial liabilities. The measurement 
category and the carrying amount of financial assets in accordance with IAS 39 and IFRS 9 at 1 April 
2018 are compared as follows:

Description Impairment

Impairment provision at 31 March 2018 – calculated under IAS 39 -

Impact of IFRS 9 ECL impairment on accounts receivables restated through opening reserve account 3,334,882

Impairment provision at 1 April 2018 - calculated under IFRS 9 3,334,882



(c) Reconciliation of Statement of Assets Available for Benefits balances from IAS 39 to IFRS 9

The Fund performed a detailed analysis of its business models for managing financial assets and 
analysis of their cash flow characteristics. The following table reconciles the carrying amounts of 
financial assets, from their previous measurement category in accordance with IAS 39 to their new 
measurement categories upon transition to IFRS 9 on 1 April 2018:

Financial Asset Ref IAS 39 carrying  
Amount 31 March 2018

Reclassifications Remeasurements IFRS 9 carrying 
Amount 1 April 2018

Cash and bank 
deposits

A

Closing balance under 
IAS 39 and closing 
balance under IFRS 9

138,864,504 - - 138,864,504

Accounts receivables B
Closing balance under 
IAS 39

12,314,845 - - -

Remeasurement: ECL 
allowance

- - (3,334,882) -

Closing balance under 
IFRS 9

- - - 8,979,963

Financial Assets Measurement
Category

Carrying
Amount
P

Measurement
Category

Carrying
Amount
P

Cash and deposits Amortised cost
(Loans  and receivables)

138,864,504 Amortised cost 138,864,504

Accounts receivables Amortised cost
(Loans and receivables)

12,314,845 Amortised cost 8,979,963

Private equity FVTPL (Designated) 3,413,023,203 FVTPL (Mandatory) 3,413,023,203

Local equity FVTPL (Designated) 12,076,806,304 FVTPL (Mandatory) 12,076,806,304

Offshore equities & equity 
funds

FVTPL (Designated) 33,211,519,605 FVTPL (Mandatory) 33,211,519,605

Local fixed interest funds/
bonds

FVTPL (Designated) 8,457,437,122 FVTPL (Mandatory) 8,457,437,122

Offshore fixed interest FVTPL (Designated) 1,411,097,790 FVTPL (Designated) 1,411,097,790

Cash and cash equivalents Amortised cost
(Loans and receivables)

951,997,112 Amortised cost
(Loans and
receivables)

951,997,112

59,673,060,485 59,669,725,603

IAS 39 IFRS 9
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Financial Asset Ref IAS 39 carrying  
Amount 31 March 2018

Reclassifications Remeasurements IFRS 9 carrying 
Amount 1 April 2018

Private equity C
Closing balance under 
IAS 39 and closing 
balance under IFRS 9

3,413,023,203 - - 3,413,023,203

Local equities D
Closing balance under 
IAS 39 and closing 
balance under IFRS 9

12,076,806,304 - - 12,076,806,304

Offshore equities 
and equity funds

E

Closing balance under 
IAS 39 and closing 
balance under IFRS 9

33,211,519,605 - - 33,211,519,605

Local fixed interest 
funds/bonds

F

Closing balance under 
IAS 39 and closing 
balance under IFRS 9

8,457,437,122 - - 8,457,437,122

Offshore fixed 
interest funds/bonds

G

Closing balance under 
IAS 39 and closing 
balance under IFRS 9

1,411,097,790 - - 1,411,097,790

Cash and cash 
equivalents

H

Closing balance under 
IAS 39 and closing 
balance under IFRS 9

951,997,112 - - 951,997,112

59,673,060,485 - (3,334,882) 59,669,725,603

The following explains how applying the new classification and measurement requirements of IFRS 9 
led to changes in classification and measurement of certain financial assets held by the Fund as shown 
in the table above:
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Area and Potential Impact of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments - Recognition & 
Measurement [Classification & Measurement impact explained as at 1 April 
2018 resulting from applying IFRS 9 for the first time]

Cash and bank deposits: This financial asset class was classified as loans and 
receivables and measured at amortised cost under IAS 39. Under IFRS 9, these 
assets continue to be measured at amortised cost because they satisfy the solely 
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) and business model tests for classification 
as amortised cost. Cash and bank deposits are subject to impairment under both 
IAS 39 and IFRS 9. As at 31 March 2018, the impairment provision under IAS 39 
was nil as there was no objective evidence of impairment.

The Fund has elected to apply the simplified approach for impairment of cash and 
bank deposits since the lifespan of this asset class is less than 12 months. The 
Fund has adopted the provision matrix contained in implementation guidance to 
IFRS 9 as its impairment methodology.

Historical default rates on deposits held by banks is nil. Review of forward looking 
macro-economic factors such as the GDP does not suggest possible defaults on 
bank deposits and consequently no provision has been raised on adoption of IFRS 
9 at 1 April 2018.

Accounts receivables: This asset class was previously classified as loans and 
receivables and now classified at amortised cost under IFRS 9. An allowance for 
impairment of P3,334,882 over these receivables due to disputes involving BURS, 
Alexander Forbes Financial Services (Pty)Ltd and the Standard Chartered Bank was 
recognised in the opening reserve account at 1 April 2018 on transition to IFRS 9.

Onshore private equity: This asset class is held primarily for long term gain. The 
investment was designated at FVTPL under IAS 39. Under IFRS 9 the asset class 
continues to be measured at fair value and classified as FVTPL on a mandatory 
basis. This asset class is not subject to impairment provisions of IFRS 9 and 
therefore the carrying amount is not impacted by the adoption of IFRS 9.

Onshore listed equity: This asset class is held primarily to generate long term 
gains. The investment was designated at FVTPL under IAS 39. Under IFRS 9 the 
asset class continues to be measured at fair value and classified as FVTPL on a 
mandatory basis. This asset class is not subject to impairment provisions of IFRS 
9 and therefore the carrying amount is not impacted by the adoption of IFRS 9.

Offshore equities and equity funds: This asset class is held primarily to generate 
long term gains. The investment was designated at FVTPL under IAS 39. Under IFRS 
9 the asset class continues to be measured at fair value and classified as FVTPL on 
a mandatory basis. This asset class is not subject to impairment provisions of IFRS 
9 and therefore the carrying amount is not impacted by the adoption of IFRS 9.

REF

A

B

C

D

E
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Area and Potential Impact of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments - Recognition & 
Measurement [Classification & Measurement impact explained as at 1 April 
2018 resulting from applying IFRS 9 for the first time]

Onshore fixed interest funds/bonds: This asset class is held primarily to generate 
both short and long term gains. The investment was designated at FVTPL under 
IAS 39. Under IFRS 9 the asset class shall continue to be measured at fair  value 
and classified as FVTPL on a designation basis to reflect the financial performance 
mandate of the fund. This asset class is not subject to impairment provisions of 
IFRS 9 and therefore the carrying amount is not impacted by the adoption of IFRS 9.

IFRS 15 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 11 Construction contracts; IAS 18 Revenue; IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty 
Programmes; IFRIC 15 Agreements for the construction of Real Estate; IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets 
from Customers and SIC 31 Revenue - Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recognises revenue to depict the transfer of promised 
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects 
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. An entity recognises revenue in accordance with 
that core principle by applying the following steps:

Offshore fixed interest funds/bonds: This asset class is held primarily to generate 
both short and long term gains. The G investment was designated at FVTPL under 
IAS 39. Under IFRS 9 the asset class continues to be measured at fair value and 
classified as FVTPL on a designation basis to reflect the financial performance 
mandate of the fund. This asset class is not subject to impairment provisions of 
IFRS 9 and therefore the carrying amount is not impacted by the adoption of IFRS 9.

Cash and cash equivalents: This asset class is held primarily to generate short term 
gains. The asset was classified as loans and receivables and measured at amortised 
cost under IAS 39. Under IFRS 9, these assets continue to be measured at amortised 
cost because they satisfy the SPPI and business model tests for classification as 
amortised cost. Money market investments are subject to impairment under both IAS 
39 and IFRS 9. As at 31 March 2018, the impairment provision under IAS 39 was nil 
as there was no objective evidence of impairment.

The Fund has elected to the apply the simplified approach for impairment of money 
market investments since the lifespan of these securities is less than 12 months. 
The Fund has adopted the provision matrix contained in implementation guidance 
to IFRS 9 as its impairment methodology.

Historical default rates on money market investments is nil. Review of forward 
looking macro-economic factors such as GDP does not suggest possible defaults and 
consequently no provision has been raised on adoption of IFRS 9.
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• Identify the contract(s) with a customer;

• Identify the performance obligations in the 
contract;

• Determine the transaction price;

• Allocate the transaction price to the 
performance obligations in the contract;

• Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity 
satisfies a performance obligation.

IFRS 15 also includes extensive new disclosure 
requirements.

The effective date of the standard is for 
financial years beginning on or after 1 January 
2018.

The Fund has adopted the standard for the first 
time in the 2019 financial statements.

The impact of the standard is not material.

2.2 STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT 
YET EFFECTIVE

The Fund has chosen not to early adopt the 
following standards and interpretations, which 
have been published and are mandatory to the 
Fund’s accounting periods on or after 1 April 
2019.

IFRS 16 LEASES

IFRS 16 Leases is a new standard which replaces 
IAS 17 Leases, and introduces a single lessee 
accounting model. The main changes arising 
from the issue of IFRS 16 which are likely to 
impact the fund are as follows:

FUND AS LESSEE:

Lessees are required to recognise a right-of-use 
asset and a lease liability for all leases, except 
short term leases or leases where the underlying 
asset has a low value, which are expensed on a 
straight line or other systematic basis.

The cost of the right-of-use asset includes, 
where appropriate, the initial amount of the 
lease liability; lease payments made  prior to 
commencement of the lease less incentives 
received; initial direct costs of the lessee; and 
an estimate for any provision for dismantling, 
restoration and removal related to the underlying 
asset.

The lease liability takes into consideration, where 
appropriate, fixed and variable lease payments; 
residual value guarantees to be made by the 
lessee; exercise price of purchase options; and 
payments of penalties for terminating the lease.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured 
on the cost model at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment and adjusted for any 
re-measurement of the lease liability. However, 
right-of-use assets are measured at fair value 
when they meet the definition of investment 
property and all other investment property 
is accounted for on the fair value model. If a 
right-of-use asset relates to a class of property, 
plant and equipment which is measured on the 
revaluation model, then that right-of-use asset 
may be measured on the revaluation model.

The lease liability is subsequently increased by 
interest, reduced by lease payments and re-
measured for reassessments or modifications.

Re-measurements of lease liabilities are affected 
against right-of-use assets, unless the assets 
have been reduced to nil, in which case further 
adjustments are recognised in profit or loss.
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A modification is required to be accounted for 
as a separate lease if it both increases the 
scope of the lease by adding the right to use 
one or more underlying assets; and the increase 
in consideration is commensurate to the stand 
alone price of the increase in scope.

If a finance lease is modified, and the modification 
would not qualify as a separate lease, but the 
lease would have been an operating lease if the 
modification was in effect from inception, then 
the modification is accounted for as a separate 
lease. In addition, the carrying amount of the 
underlying asset shall be measured as the net 
investment in the lease immediately before the 
effective date of the modification. IFRS 9 is 
applied to all other modifications not required to 
be treated as a separate lease.

Modifications to operating leases are required to 
be accounted for as new leases from the effective 
date of the modification. Changes have also been 
made to the disclosure requirements of leases in 
the lessor’s financial statements.

SALE AND LEASEBACK TRANSACTIONS:

In the event of a sale and leaseback transaction, 
the requirements of IFRS 15 are applied to 
consider whether a performance obligation is 
satisfied to determine whether the transfer of 
the asset is accounted for as the sale of an asset.

If the transfer meets the requirements to be 
recognised as a sale, the seller-lessee must 
measure the new Right-of-Use asset at the 
proportion of the previous carrying amount of 
the asset that relates to the right-of-use retained. 
The buyer-lessor accounts for the purchase by 
applying applicable standards and for the lease 
by applying IFRS 16

The lease liability is re-measured by discounting 
revised payments at a revised rate when there 
is a change in the lease term or a change in 
the assessment of an option to purchase the 
underlying asset.

The lease liability is re-measured by discounting 
revised lease payments at the original discount 
rate when there is a change in the amounts 
expected to be paid in a residual value guarantee 
or when there is a change in future payments 
because of a change in index or rate used to 
determine those payments.

Certain lease modifications are accounted for 
as separate leases. When lease modifications 
which decrease the scope of the lease are not 
required to be accounted for as separate leases, 
then the lessee re-measures the lease liability by 
decreasing   the carrying amount of the right of 
lease asset to reflect the full or partial termination 
of the lease. Any gain or loss relating to  the full 
or partial termination of the lease is recognised 
in profit or loss. For all other lease modifications 
which are not required to be accounted for as 
separate leases, the lessee re-measures the lease 
liability by making a corresponding adjustment 
to the right-of-use asset.

Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities should 
be presented separately from other assets and 
liabilities. If not, then the line item in which 
they are included must be disclosed. This does 
not apply to right-of-use assets meeting the 
definition of investment property which must 
be presented within investment property. IFRS 
16 contains different disclosure requirements 
compared to IAS 17 leases.

FUND AS LESSOR:

Accounting for leases by lessors remains similar 
to the provisions of IAS 17 in that leases are 
classified as either finance leases or operating 
leases. Lease classification is reassessed only if 
there has been a modification.
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If the fair value of consideration for the sale is 
not equal to the fair value of the asset, then 
IFRS 16 requires adjustments to be made to the 
sale proceeds. When the transfer of the asset 
is not a sale, then the seller-lessee continues to 
recognise the transferred asset and recognises a 
financial liability equal to the transfer proceeds. 
The buyer-lessor recognises a financial asset 
equal to the transfer proceeds.

The effective date of the standard is for financial 
years beginning on or after 01 January 2019. 
The Fund expects to adopt the standard for the 
first time on 1 April 2019 and the results of the 
impact assessment are presented below.

The impact assessment has been estimated under 
an interim control environment with processes 
that continue to undergo validation. The impacts 
below are point in time estimates and should not 
be considered to be forecasts.

IFRS 16: LEASES – IMPACT IS ON LESSEE 
ACCOUNTING ONLY

On 31st March 2019, the Fund held a total of 
7 lease contracts comprising of 6 buildings and 
1 combined contract for printers/photocopiers 
across the Country. The Fund will adopt IFRS 
16-Leases on 1 April 2019 using the modified 
retrospective approach #1 and apply practical 
expediencies relevant to this transitional 
approach.

If IFRS 16-Leases was adopted in the current 
period, the Fund would have recognised a 
lease liability to the tune of P9,758,082 and 
corresponding Right-of-Use Asset amounting 
to P9,028,467 as at 31 March 2019. Finance 
cost would have increased by P643,838 and 
depreciation expense from the Right-of-Use 
Assets increased by P2,286,541 respectively.

Surplus for the year would have reduced by 
P173,238 if the standard was adopted in the 
current year while equity would have declined by 
P729,615.

IFRIC 23: UNCERTAINTY OVER INCOME TAX 
TREATMENTS

The interpretation clarifies how to apply the 
recognition and measurement requirements in 
IAS 12 when there is uncertainty over income 
tax treatments. Specifically, if it is probable that 
the tax authorities will accept the uncertain tax 
treatment, then all tax related items are measured 
according to the planned tax treatment. If it is 
not probable that the tax authorities will accept 
the uncertain tax treatment, then the tax related 
items are measured on the basis of probabilities 
to reflect the uncertainty.

Changes in facts and circumstances are required 
to be treated as changes in estimates and applied 
prospectively.

The effective date of the interpretation is for 
financial years beginning on or after 1January 
2019. Early adoption is permitted. The Fund will 
adopt the interpretation for the first time in the 
2020 financial statements.

It is unlikely that the interpretation will have 
a material impact on the Fund’s financial 
statements.

3. CONTRIBUTIONS
Contributions received comprise of employer’s 
(Government of Botswana) contributions at 15% 
of pensionable salary, members’ contributions 
at 5% of pensionable salary and additional 
voluntary contributions by members. Transfers 
in comprise of individual transfers from other 
Pension Funds.

Contributions - unallocated relates to 
contributions received from various paypoints 
with insufficient information to match against 
the type of contribution received at year end.
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4. PROFIT ON DISPOSAL OF INVESTMENTS

5. INTEREST INCOME

Figures in Pula 2019 2018

BPOPF Offshore Investments (10,290,133) -

Botswana Insurance Fund Management Ltd (58,610,759) (45,875,513)

Investec Asset Management Botswana (Pty) Ltd 77,705,738 462,401,735

Allan Gray (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd (36,686,790) 56,738,864

Hilton Development Project - (51,362)

Morgan Stanley - 1,950

Kgori Capital Botswana (Pty) Ltd - (376,811,144)

African Alliance Botswana Ltd (10,641,319) 10,691,063

Harding Loevner 83,984,834 430,389,732

Sarasin & Partners LLP (18,966,230) (8,467,306)

26,495,341 529,018,019

Morgan Stanley/Fleming Asset Management Botswana (Pty) Ltd 515,252 74,464

Botswana Insurance Fund Management Ltd 211,790,429 223,595,115

Investec Asset Management Botswana (Pty) Ltd 60,505,887 65,563,769

Allan Gray (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd 176,680,680 122,865,920

African Alliance Botswana Ltd 165,798,642 128,340,850

Kgori Capital Botswana (Pty) Ltd - 65,100,602

Interest on call 40,961,236 71,469,899

Interest on Fixed deposit 76,023,630 15,206,009

BPOPF Offshore Investments 129,534 69,590

Messidor 9,176,070 -

Harding Loevner 1,711,144 361,972

Sarasin & Partners LLP (714,499) 40,484

Moravia 192,635 -

Messidor - Hilton Project Operational call account 3,108,527 2,772,146

745,879,167 695,460,820
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6. DIVIDEND INCOME

8. UNREALISED NET FAIR VALUE GAINS/(LOSS)FROM FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS

7. OTHER INCOME/(LOSSES)

Botswana Insurance Fund Management Ltd 85,166,883 91,654,402

Investec Asset Management Botswana (Pty) Ltd 177,326,236 148,923,348

Allan Gray (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd 194,177,476 127,002,946

DECI Investments (Pty) Ltd 238,465,256 201,681,804

African Alliance Botswana Ltd 116,474,596 138,324,398

Kgori Capital Botswana (Pty) Ltd - 117,403,912

BPOPF Offshore Investments 42,235,779 -

Sarasin & Partners LLP 32,153,647 34,051,226

Harding Loevner 68,496,289 53,942,021

BPOPF Transition Morgan Stanley account - 2,419,619

954,496,162 915,403,676

Fleming Asset Management Botswana (Pty) Ltd 9,035,823 (15,134,805)

Botswana Insurance Fund Management Ltd (310,751,075) 44,991,887

Investec Asset Management Botswana (Pty) Ltd 978,402,125 169,572,979

Allan Gray (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd (361,978,373) (127,357,079)

African Alliance Botswana Ltd (350,818,000) (282,320,453)

Kgori Capital Botswana (Pty) Ltd - 213,875,993

DECI Investments (Pty) Ltd 82,500,000 (57,500,000)

Falcon - 836,306

BPOPF Offshore Investments 2,230,506,662 482,689,356

Harith General Partners Proprietary Limited (10,604,821) 5,816,784

Sarasin & Partners LLP 257,648,827 (72,701,631)

Harding Loevner 744,213,147 27,247,088

BOP Investment 379,500,392 -

Transition account 470,534 (10,483,612)

Moravia (11,377,958) -

Capital Management Botswana (Pty) Ltd - (534,838,130)

Messidor - Hilton (128,200,000) 66,640,552

PUMA Energy Botswana (Pty) Ltd 47,500,000 (96,600,000)

Messidor (57,833,163) (78,063,278)

Feune (47,479,170) -

3,450,734,950 (263,328,043)

Realised foreign exchange gains/losses 285,692,907 (38,206,301)

Sundry income 166,871 21,719,924

285,859,778 (16,486,377)

Figures in Pula 2019 2018
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Investment management fees paid to asset managers:

9. MANAGEMENT EXPENSES

Local direct investments

Off shore direct investments

Unitised funds

Botswana Insurance Fund Management Ltd 27,801,233 28,639,269

Investec Asset Management Botswana (Pty) Ltd 86,459,629 98,671,180

Allan Gray (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd 42,903,052 29,830,830

Stanbic Investment Management Services (Pty) Ltd 28,876,895 -

African Alliance Botswana Ltd 24,572,138 22,236,316

Kgori Capital Botswana (Pty) Ltd 576,905 17,388,091

Africa Lighthouse Capital 5,461,918 -

Aleyo Capital 6,604,348 -

Moravia 6,454,127 -

BPOPF Offshore Limited - 16,820,219

Messidor - Hilton Hospitality 4,493,610 -

Messidor 13,639,742 10,385,689

Harding Loevner 21,539,767 29,853,289

Messidor - Hilton Development Project 6,469,359 9,777,560

Sarasin and Partners LLP - 6,035,842

275,852,723 269,638,285

Listed equity (843,484,990) (318,060,679)

Bonds (14,337,930) (36,154,176)

Private equity 509,500,392 (688,938,130)

Investment property (233,512,333) (11,422,698)

(581,834,861) (1,054,575,683)

Listed equity 1,737,907,912 293,785,674

Fixed income securities (182,586,165) 97,121,575

Cash and near cash instruments 470,534 (10,483,997)

1,555,792,281 380,423,252

Offshore 2,476,777,530 410,824,388

3,450,734,950 (263,328,043)

Figures in Pula 2019 2018

The total net unrealised gain/(loss) from investments classified as financial assets at fair value 
through profit and loss, for the year arise from investments in the following:
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Other service provider expenses:

Secretariat expenses

Audit fees 2,057,050 2,049,600

Asset consultancy fees 3,080,698 6,184,909

Actuarial fees 950,597 1,731,332

Benefits administration fees 13,201,262 12,873,873

Asset custody and other fees 69,998,388 52,951,420

Legal expenses 10,487,277 5,851,186

99,775,272 81,642,320

Advertising 1,549,201 5,141,404

Beverages and refreshments 333,514 355,997

Bad debts 3,334,882 -

Computer expenses 4,888,620 4,098,868

Postage 2,286,991 1,145,457

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments 1,285,532 4,448,507

Insurance 954,247 411,398

Motor vehicle expenses 544,404 568,970

Employee costs 65,081,218 50,377,733

Sundry expenses 4,434,688 2,844,499

Consultancy fee 5,875,626 6,237,521

Telephone and fax 2,477,290 1,600,438

Travel and entertainment 3,721,264 3,439,560

Trustees' remuneration 599,950 1,308,120

Trustees' expenses 2,393,722 2,276,340

Workshop expenses 374,837 503,901

Water and electricity 520,891 445,251

Regulators' (NBFIRA) fees 2,655,808 2,402,787

Bank charges 474,998 415,398

Printing and stationery 2,335,536 1,252,677

106,123,219 89,274,826

Total Expenses 481,751,214 440,555,431

Figures in Pula 2019 2018
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With Profit Pensioners

Non-Profit Pensioners

10. PENSION FUND ACCOUNT

Balance at beginning of year 4,884,375,652 4,864,212,547

Transfer during the year 253,708,672 390,301,204

Benefits paid (383,079,422) (370,138,099)

Balance at end of year 4,755,004,902 4,884,375,652

Balance at beginning of year 1,890,924,339 1,801,380,110

Transfer during the year 820,795,759 229,412,229

Benefits paid (190,907,534) (139,868,000)

Balance at end of year 2,520,812,564 1,890,924,339

Balance payable within one year 361,418,153 382,460,350

Balance payable after one year 4,393,586,749 4,501,915,302

4,755,004,902 4,884,375,652

Balance payable within one year 179,165,882 141,025,401

Balance payable after one year 2,341,646,682 1,749,898,938

2,520,812,564 1,890,924,339

Rule 4.4.1 requires a Pension Account to be maintained under the Fund and to be credited with the 
value of the Member's Fund Credit at his/her retirement in respect of those members who elected in 
terms of the options in Rule 5.3.1 to have their pension paid from the Fund, and any amount transfered 
from the Reserve Account in terms of Rule 4.3.1(d).

Figures in Pula 2019 2018
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11. RESERVE ACCOUNT

Balance at beginning of year 855,503,728 1,199,505,333

Release of reserve (261,616,520) -

Transfers to data reserve - (344,001,605)

(261,616,520) (344,001,605)

Balance at end of year 593,887,208 855,503,728

Figures in Pula 2019 2018

(a) Rule 4.3.1(a) of the Fund requires that any amount by which the investment earnings of the Fund 
exceed the rate of investment earnings declared by the Trustees (on the advice of the Actuary) should 
be transfered to a Reserve account.

(b) Rule 4.3.1(b) of the Fund requires that forfeited benefits of members who have left the service 
prematurely should be transferred to a Reserve Account.
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(c) Rule 4.3.2 of the Fund requires that the amount standing to the credit of the Reserve Account 
should be increased or decreased by the share of the investment earnings of the Fund that the amount 
in the Reserve Account bears to the sum of all accounts standing to the credit of the Fund.

The reserve account comprises of the following:
Data reserve 593,887,208 855,503,728

Data reserve

The data reserve was created to meet the cost of any losses incurred by the Fund due to data errors 
in underlying data of individual members. This reserve is being maintained as there is still some 
uncertainty with regards to certain transfer valuations.

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost or 
evaluation

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Cost or 
evaluation

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Leasehold property - - - 201,186 (201,186) -

Furniture and fixtures 15,331,550 (5,680,340) 9,651,210 6,220,640 (3,829,229) 2,391,411

Motor vehicles 5,815,000 (4,957,399) 857,601 5,815,000 (4,180,938) 1,634,062

Office equipment 5,909,199 (2,354,272) 3,554,927 3,266,695 (2,017,765) 1,248,930

IT equipment 7,074,144 (2,580,792) 4,493,352 6,773,946 (4,808,331) 1,965,615

Computer software 6,596,083 (3,285,469) 3,310,614 4,403,761 (2,966,094) 1,437,667

Total 40,725,976 (18,858,272) 21,867,704 26,681,228 (18,003,543) 8,677,685

20182019
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RECONCILIATION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - 2019

RECONCILIATION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - 2018

Opening balance Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

Furniture and fixtures 2,391,411 9,110,910 - (1,851,111) 9,651,210

Motor vehicles 1,634,062 - - (776,461) 857,601

Office equipment 1,248,930 2,645,404 (580) (338,827) 3,554,927

IT equipment 1,965,615 544,284 (16,789) 2,000,242 4,493,352

Computer software 1,437,667 2,245,693 (53,371) (319,375) 3,310,614

8,677,685 14,546,291 (70,740) (1,285,532) 21,867,704

Opening balance Additions Depreciation Total

Furniture and fixtures 2,449,405 598,415 (656,409) 2,391,411

Motor vehicles 2,500,551 - (866,489) 1,634,062

Office equipment 1,569,178 37,388 (357,636) 1,248,930

IT equipment 2,832,041 783,127 (1,649,553) 1,965,615

Computer software 1,964,364 391,723 (918,420) 1,437,667

11,315,539 1,810,653 (4,448,507) 8,677,685
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13. INVESTMENTS

31 MARCH 2019 Private equity Local equities Offshore Equities/ 
Equity Funds

Local Fixed Interest
Funds/Bonds

Offshore Fixed
Interest

Investment
property

Cash & cash
equivalents

Total

African Alliance Botswana Ltd - 2,676,400,027 - 2,048,583,914 - - 68,586,365 4,793,570,306

Botswana Insurance Fund Management Limited - 1,500,470,537 - 2,796,414,344 1,041,513,740 - 101,649,295 5,440,047,916

Messidor - Letsema 198,708,078 - - 331,850,318 - 551,580,000 - 1,082,138,396

Fleming Asset Management Botswana (Pty) Ltd - - - - 17,175,365 - - 17,175,365

Messidor - Hilton Development Project (Hospitality) - - - - - - 923,025 923,025

Investec Asset Management Limited - 965,516,753 11,428,781,066 997,585,328 - - 97,063,011 13,488,946,158

Messidor-Hilton Dev Project - - - 28,205,209 - - - 28,205,209

Moravia 76,025,622 - - - - - - 76,025,622

Allan Gray Botswana - 6,533,694,767 - 1,019,157,234 - - 351,917,462 7,904,769,463

DECI Investments (Pty) Ltd 2,025,000,000 - - - - - - 2,025,000,000

Barak 1,166,693,973 - - - - - - 1,166,693,973

Fixed Deposit FNBB - - - 396,870,971 - - - 396,870,971

Kgori Capital Botswana (Pty) Ltd - (45) - - - - - (45)

Falcon 544,139,687 - - - - - - 544,139,687

BOP Investments 379,500,392 - - - - - - 379,500,392

BPOPF Offshore Investments - - 18,415,176,357 - - - 11,645,875 18,426,822,232

PAIDF - - 63,832,050 - - - - 63,832,050

Sarasin & Partners LLP - - 1,432,638,350 - - - 50,383,614 1,483,021,964

BPOPF transition account - - - 1,619,192,976 - - 464,288,920 2,083,481,896

Vantage Mezzanine III sub fund - - 110,140,176 - - - - 110,140,176

Harding Loevner - - 6,446,590,466 - - - 48,567,741 6,495,158,207

Puma Energy 132,000,000 - - - - - - 132,000,000

Pre-retirement switch - - - 205,375,019 - - - 205,375,019

4,522,067,752 11,676,082,039 37,897,158,465 9,443,235,313 1,058,689,105 551,580,000 1,195,025,308 66,343,837,982

5% of investment 226,103,388 583,804,102 1,894,857,923 472,161,766 52,934,455 27,579,000 59,751,265 3,317,191,899



83ANNUAL REPORT

13. INVESTMENTS

31 MARCH 2019 Private equity Local equities Offshore Equities/ 
Equity Funds

Local Fixed Interest
Funds/Bonds

Offshore Fixed
Interest

Investment
property

Cash & cash
equivalents

Total

African Alliance Botswana Ltd - 2,676,400,027 - 2,048,583,914 - - 68,586,365 4,793,570,306

Botswana Insurance Fund Management Limited - 1,500,470,537 - 2,796,414,344 1,041,513,740 - 101,649,295 5,440,047,916

Messidor - Letsema 198,708,078 - - 331,850,318 - 551,580,000 - 1,082,138,396

Fleming Asset Management Botswana (Pty) Ltd - - - - 17,175,365 - - 17,175,365

Messidor - Hilton Development Project (Hospitality) - - - - - - 923,025 923,025

Investec Asset Management Limited - 965,516,753 11,428,781,066 997,585,328 - - 97,063,011 13,488,946,158

Messidor-Hilton Dev Project - - - 28,205,209 - - - 28,205,209

Moravia 76,025,622 - - - - - - 76,025,622

Allan Gray Botswana - 6,533,694,767 - 1,019,157,234 - - 351,917,462 7,904,769,463

DECI Investments (Pty) Ltd 2,025,000,000 - - - - - - 2,025,000,000

Barak 1,166,693,973 - - - - - - 1,166,693,973

Fixed Deposit FNBB - - - 396,870,971 - - - 396,870,971

Kgori Capital Botswana (Pty) Ltd - (45) - - - - - (45)

Falcon 544,139,687 - - - - - - 544,139,687

BOP Investments 379,500,392 - - - - - - 379,500,392

BPOPF Offshore Investments - - 18,415,176,357 - - - 11,645,875 18,426,822,232

PAIDF - - 63,832,050 - - - - 63,832,050

Sarasin & Partners LLP - - 1,432,638,350 - - - 50,383,614 1,483,021,964

BPOPF transition account - - - 1,619,192,976 - - 464,288,920 2,083,481,896

Vantage Mezzanine III sub fund - - 110,140,176 - - - - 110,140,176

Harding Loevner - - 6,446,590,466 - - - 48,567,741 6,495,158,207

Puma Energy 132,000,000 - - - - - - 132,000,000

Pre-retirement switch - - - 205,375,019 - - - 205,375,019

4,522,067,752 11,676,082,039 37,897,158,465 9,443,235,313 1,058,689,105 551,580,000 1,195,025,308 66,343,837,982

5% of investment 226,103,388 583,804,102 1,894,857,923 472,161,766 52,934,455 27,579,000 59,751,265 3,317,191,899
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31 MARCH 2018 Private equity Local equities Offshore Equities/ 
Equity Funds

Local Fixed Interest
Funds/Bonds

Offshore Fixed
Interest

Investment
property

Cash & cash
equivalents

Total

African Alliance Botswana Ltd - 2,831,982,262 - 2,039,316,631 - - 181,361,913 5,052,660,806

Botswana Insurance Fund Management Limited - 1,523,485,667 - 2,705,048,327 1,403,473,501 - 87,849,993 5,719,857,488

Messidor - Letsema Fund 157,440,842 - - 310,597,743 - 401,413,155 - 869,451,740

Fleming Asset Management Botswana (Pty) Ltd - - - - 7,624,289 - - 7,624,289

Messidor - Hilton Development Project (Hospitality) - - - 2,407,778 - - - 2,407,778

Investec Asset Management Limited - 995,249,626 10,250,157,179 910,537,276 - - 119,532,138 12,275,476,219

Messidor - Hilton Dev Project - - - 89,229,299 - 336,200,008 - 425,429,307

Allan Gray Botswana - 6,726,088,795 - 954,419,080 - - 257,453,698 7,937,961,573

DECI Investments (Pty) Ltd 1,942,500,000 - - - - - - 1,942,500,000

Barak 751,101,273 - - - - - - 751,101,273

Fixed Deposit FNBB - - - 187,150,361 - - - 187,150,361

Kgori Capital Botswana (Pty) Ltd - (46) - - - - - (46)

Falcon 477,481,088 - - - - - - 477,481,088

BPOPF Offshore Limited - - 16,162,166,446 - - - 1,021,221 16,163,187,667

Harith General Partners Proprietary Limited - - 29,925,243 - - - - 29,925,243

Sarasin & Partners LLP - - 1,205,095,959 - - - 13,795,148 1,218,891,107

BPOPF transition account - - - 1,143,653,132 - - 174,843,001 1,318,496,133

Vantage Mezzanine III sub fund - - 82,130,765 - - - - 82,130,765

Harding Loevner - - 5,482,044,013 - - - 116,140,000 5,598,184,013

Puma Energy 84,500,000 - - - - - - 84,500,000

Pre-retirement switch - - - 115,077,495 - - - 115,077,495

3,413,023,203 12,076,806,304 33,211,519,605 8,457,437,122 1,411,097,790 737,613,163 951,997,112 60,259,494,299

5% of investment 170,651,160 603,840,315 1,660,575,980 422,871,856 70,554,890 36,880,658 47,599,856 3,012,974,715
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31 MARCH 2018 Private equity Local equities Offshore Equities/ 
Equity Funds

Local Fixed Interest
Funds/Bonds

Offshore Fixed
Interest

Investment
property

Cash & cash
equivalents

Total

African Alliance Botswana Ltd - 2,831,982,262 - 2,039,316,631 - - 181,361,913 5,052,660,806

Botswana Insurance Fund Management Limited - 1,523,485,667 - 2,705,048,327 1,403,473,501 - 87,849,993 5,719,857,488

Messidor - Letsema Fund 157,440,842 - - 310,597,743 - 401,413,155 - 869,451,740

Fleming Asset Management Botswana (Pty) Ltd - - - - 7,624,289 - - 7,624,289

Messidor - Hilton Development Project (Hospitality) - - - 2,407,778 - - - 2,407,778

Investec Asset Management Limited - 995,249,626 10,250,157,179 910,537,276 - - 119,532,138 12,275,476,219

Messidor - Hilton Dev Project - - - 89,229,299 - 336,200,008 - 425,429,307

Allan Gray Botswana - 6,726,088,795 - 954,419,080 - - 257,453,698 7,937,961,573

DECI Investments (Pty) Ltd 1,942,500,000 - - - - - - 1,942,500,000

Barak 751,101,273 - - - - - - 751,101,273

Fixed Deposit FNBB - - - 187,150,361 - - - 187,150,361

Kgori Capital Botswana (Pty) Ltd - (46) - - - - - (46)

Falcon 477,481,088 - - - - - - 477,481,088

BPOPF Offshore Limited - - 16,162,166,446 - - - 1,021,221 16,163,187,667

Harith General Partners Proprietary Limited - - 29,925,243 - - - - 29,925,243

Sarasin & Partners LLP - - 1,205,095,959 - - - 13,795,148 1,218,891,107

BPOPF transition account - - - 1,143,653,132 - - 174,843,001 1,318,496,133

Vantage Mezzanine III sub fund - - 82,130,765 - - - - 82,130,765

Harding Loevner - - 5,482,044,013 - - - 116,140,000 5,598,184,013

Puma Energy 84,500,000 - - - - - - 84,500,000

Pre-retirement switch - - - 115,077,495 - - - 115,077,495

3,413,023,203 12,076,806,304 33,211,519,605 8,457,437,122 1,411,097,790 737,613,163 951,997,112 60,259,494,299

5% of investment 170,651,160 603,840,315 1,660,575,980 422,871,856 70,554,890 36,880,658 47,599,856 3,012,974,715



86 Botswana Public Officers Pension Fund

The following investments exceed 5% of the net assets of the single category investments available for 
benefits:

Local equities:

Botswana Insurance Holdings Limited 984,058,478 988,622,604

Barclays Bank of Botswana Limited 708,222,738 839,551,405

First National Bank of Botswana Limited 1,068,510,968 929,521,775

Sechaba Brewery Holdings Limited 843,865,998 756,896,424

Letshego Holdings Limited 850,878,878 1,103,184,029

Sefalana Holdings Limited 966,717,194 1,008,641,438

Choppies Enterprises Limited - 748,208,638

Turnstar Limited 735,502,694 839,949,773

DECI Investments (Pty) Limited 2,025,000,000 1,942,500,000

NAP 805,013,242 781,654,981

  8,987,770,190 9,938,731,067

Offshore equities:
Investec emerging markets equity fund 4,728,854,578 4,530,799,914

Local fixed interest funds/bonds:
Government of Botswana - BW005 bond - 425,314,760

Government of Botswana - BW007 bond 595,334,875 476,652,630

Government of Botswana - BW008 bond 611,281,000 722,451,648

Investment property:
Commercial property on portion 116 of Farm Forest Hill No 9- KO - 40,600,000

Commercial property on Lot 1108, Gaborone 79,200,000 91,350,000

Plot 70675, Gaborone (Industrial Property) 198,708,078 -

Commercial property on Lot 61920, Gaborone 73,500,000 79,570,000

Messidor Hilton Development Project 208,000,000 336,200,000

Blue Jacket Square 27,730,000 -

Letplaza Plot 6142 Francistown 43,270,000 43,850,000

Tirelo House PLOT 1140-1145 35,900,000 46,210,000

15,589,548,721 16,731,730,019

Investments below 5% of the net assets of the single category investments 
available for benefits:

50,754,289,260 43,527,764,280

Total investments 66,343,837,981 60,259,494,299

2019 2018
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Financial assets

The movement in investments is as follows:

Balance at beginning of year 59,521,881,136 57,415,656,279

Net movement during the year 2,633,608,733 2,601,620,567

Changes in fair value 3,636,768,113 (495,395,710)

Balance at end of year 65,792,257,982 59,521,881,136

Investment properties 
Balance at beginning of year 737,613,163 505,545,496

Changes in fair value (186,033,163) 232,067,667

Balance at end of year 551,580,000 737,613,163

Total investments 66,343,837,982 60,259,494,299

The following direct investments have been made in debt securities issued by
the participating employer:
Government of Botswana - BW0 5 bond - 425,314,760

Government of Botswana - BW0 7 bond 710,752,507 476,652,630

Government of Botswana - BW0 8 bond 650,333,787 722,451,648

Government of Botswana - BW0 11 bond 249,475,522 318,045,759

Government of Botswana - BW0 12 bond 137,220,489 136,701,438

Government of Botswana - BW0 13 bond 167,501,373 -

Government of Botswana - BW0 14 bond 193,460,542 -

Government of Botswana - BW0 15 bond 4,962,130 -

 2,113,706,350 2,079,166,235

Various of the unitised investment funds in which the Fund has invested may also hold investments in debt securities 
issued by the participating employer. These are not considered direct investments by the Fund as it has no control over 
the composition of investments in such unitised funds.

2019 2018
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VALUATION METHODOLOGY

The table below shows the financial assets and liabilities that are recognised and measured at fair 
value analysed by valuation technique:

31 March 2019 Valuations quoted 
in an active 

market (Level 1)

Valuations based 
on observable 

inputs (Level 2)

Valuations based 
on unobservable
inputs (Level 3)

Total

Local equities 11,676,082,039 - 4,522,067,752 16,198,149,791

Offshore equities and equity funds 37,723,186,223 173,972,242 - 37,897,158,465

Local fixed interest 9,443,235,313 - - 9,443,235,313

Offshore bonds 1,058,689,105 - - 1,058,689,105

Total financial instruments 
measured at fair value

59,901,192,680 173,972,242 4,522,067,752 64,597,232,674

31 March 2018 Valuations quoted 
in an active 

market (Level 1)

Valuations based 
on observable 

inputs (Level 2)

Valuations based 
on unobservable
inputs (Level 3)

Total

Local equities 12,076,806,304 - 3,413,023,203 15,489,829,507

Offshore equities and equity funds 33,099,463,597 112,056,008 - 33,211,519,605

Local fixed interest 8,457,437,122 - - 8,457,437,122

Offshore bonds 1,411,097,790 - - 1,411,097,790

Total financial instruments 
measured at fair value

55,044,804,813 112,056,008 3,413,023,203 58,569,884,024

A description of the nature of the techniques used to calculate valuations based on observable inputs 
and valuations based on unobservable inputs is set out below.

Level 1

Financial instruments for which their valuations are determined by reference to unadjusted traded 
prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets where the quoted price is readily available 
and the price represents actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

Level 2

Financial instruments valued using inputs other than quoted prices as described above for level 1 but 
which are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
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Level 3

Financial instruments valued using inputs for the asset or liability, that are not based on observable 
market data. Specific valuation techniques used include discounted cash flow analysis. The principle 
assumptions used and a sensitivity analysis is disclosed as part of critical accounting estimates and 
judgements. 

Transfers between level 1 and level 2

There were no such transfers during the year.

14. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

2019 2018

In current account - Active and deferred members 109,292,494 105,795,238

In current account - With profit pensioners 4,870,778 12,796,376

In current account - Non profit pensioners 3,304,437 1,838,149

In call and money market accounts - Fund secretariat 31,170,287 18,434,741

 148,637,996 138,864,504

The call accounts maintained with the First National Bank Botswana Limited by the Fund earn 
interest at 0.75% p.a (2018: 0.30%).

15. BENEFITS PAYABLE
Withdrawal 
Opening balance 58,445,523 129,781,083

Lump sums accrued on withdrawal 54,606,460 (21,007,631)

Movement during the year (37,402,726) (50,327,929)

Closing Balance 75,649,257 58,445,523

Death
Opening balance 170,839,432 221,644,274

Lump sums accrued on death 294,725,830 119,495,322

Movement during the year (230,340,292) (170,300,164)

Closing Balance 235,224,970 170,839,432
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Figures in Pula 2019 2018

Retirement
Opening balance 817,407,125 633,560,715

Lump sums accrued on retirement 504,164,272 1,794,423,885

Movement during the year (1,047,568,096) (1,610,577,475)

Closing Balance 274,003,301 817,407,125

Total benefits payable 584,877,528 1,046,692,080

16. INCOME TAX
The Fund is an approved Pension Fund in Botswana per the Second schedule of the Income Tax Act 
and is exempt from Income Taxation. This exemption does not extend to the withholding tax deducted 
at source.

17. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
There were no capital commitments at the end of the current and previous reporting period.

18. RELATED PARTIES RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise 
significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. All related party 
transactions are carried out during the course of activities of the Fund.

The Fund was registered as a result of the decision of the Government of Botswana to change the public 
officers’ pension arrangement. The Government is the sole employer.

Transactions with the employer consists of monthly contributions in respect of existing and new 
employees and transfers receivable/payable in respect of members whose transfer balances are 
recalculated upon receipt of new information concerning their employment details.

The Fund has also appointed independent asset managers to manage its investment portfolios. 
These asset managers have decision making ability concerning investment decisions within statutory 
requirements of the Retirement Funds Act.
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(a) Transactions with employer
Contributions received during the year 2,182,537,852 2,065,008,250

Transfers for the year 2,487,747 2,467,034

Unallocated contributions received 10,345,388 790,139

  2,195,370,987 2,068,265,423

(b) Board of trustees’ 
remuneration

The total remuneration paid to 
trustees during the year was 
P599,950 (2018: P1,308,120) 
and consisted of only fixed 
trustees’ fees.

(c) Senior management 
remuneration

The total remuneration paid to 
Senior Management during the 
year was P10,982,286 (2018: 
P7,919,168).

19. POST 
BALANCE SHEET 
EVENTS
(a) The removal of the 
following members from 
the Board of Trustees of the 
Fund; Ms Emmah Peloetletse, 
Mr Topias Marenga, Mr 
Ketlhaelefile Motshwegwa and 
Brigadier Charles Nkele, whose 
matters are still being resolved 
by the Fund and relevant 
employers.

(b) The Fund has terminated 
the mandate that was held 

by one asset manager who 
held investments amounting 
to P4,793,570,306 as at 31 
March 2019.

(c) The NBFIRA has appointed 
Mr Paul Masie as the judicial 
manager of Bona Life effective 
January 2020.

20. FUND 
ANALYSIS 

Description of the fund

Government of Botswana 
and its authorised agencies 
participate in the pension 
Fund for their eligible 
employees. The Fund is a 
defined contribution plan.

Accordingly, the Fund’s assets 
and liabilities are attributed to 
five main categories.

Active and deferred members

These are members from 
whom the fund receives 
monthly contributions and 
who have not yet attained 
retirement age.

With profit pensioners

Pensioners whose annual 
escalations in benefits 
is determined based on 
performance of the underlying 
investments.

Without profit pensioners

Pensioners whose annual 
escalations in benefits are 
predetermined and fixed 
throughout the pension period.

Pre-retirement

These are members nearing 
retirement age. Those who will 
retire in no more than three 
years.

Operations and reserves

Reserves set aside through 
operation of the Fund’s rules 
and not yet allocated to 
individual members’ accounts. 
This category also includes 
the assets and liabilities 
of the fund secretariat and 
cash which has not yet 
been allocated to specific 
investment funds.
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Net assets allocated to funds and reserves

Property, plant and equipment - - - - 21,867,704 21,867,704

Investments 59,040,224,977 4,748,001,773 2,350,236,212 205,375,020 - 66,343,837,982

Accounts receivables 148,048 - - - 5,200,401 5,348,449

Cash and cash equivalents 109,292,494 4,870,778 3,304,437 - 31,170,287 148,637,996

Total assets 59,149,665,519 4,752,872,551 2,353,540,649 205,375,020 58,238,392 66,519,692,131

Benefits payable 584,877,528 - - - - 584,877,528

Accounts payables 32,618,699 3,184,905 1,229,658 - 34,382,493 71,415,755

Total liabilities 617,496,227 3,184,905 1,229,658 - 34,382,493 656,293,283

Net assets 58,532,169,292 4,749,687,646 2,352,310,991 205,375,020 23,855,899 65,863,398,848

Net funding level - over/(under) funded 889,051,161 (5,317,255) (168,501,573) 124,172,379 (570,031,309) 269,373,403

20. Fund analysis (continued)

31 March 2019 Active and deferred 
members

Pensioners
With profit

Pensioners
Without profit

Pre Retirement Operations
and reserves

Total

Number of members 153,633 5,531 2,896 50 - 162,110

TOTAL FUNDS AND RESERVES P P P P P P
Members' statututory contributions 753,200,900 - - - - 753,200,900

Employers' contributions 2,182,537,852 - - - - 2,182,537,852

Members' voluntary contributions 4,743,632 - - - - 4,743,632

Transfer in from other funds 2,487,747 - - - - 2,487,747

Net rental income 43,411,287 - - - - 43,411,287

Profit on disposal of investments 37,272,333 (10,776,992) - - - 26,495,341

Dividends income 911,728,333 42,767,829 - - - 954,496,162

Interest income 440,365,187 179,377,013 118,237,336 7,899,631 - 745,879,167

Net fair value loss from financial instruments 3,487,195,675 (154,203,195) 117,742,470 - - 3,450,734,950

Management expenses (259,202,282) (19,134,061) (7,516,377) - (195,898,494) (481,751,214)

Monthly pensions (573,986,956) - - - - (573,986,956)

Lump sums accrued on withdrawal (54,606,460) - - - - (54,606,460)

Lump sums accrued on death (294,725,830) - - - - (294,725,830)

Lump sums accrued on retirement (504,164,272) - - - - (504,164,272)

6,176,257,146 38,030,594 228,463,429 7,899,631 (195,898,494) 6,254,752,306

Transfers directly to/(from) reserves 261,616,520 - - - (261,616,520) -

Transfers directly (from)/to pension accounts (500,517,475) (129,370,750) 629,888,225 - - -

Inter segment transfer 70,595,529 (38,030,595) (228,463,428) - 195,898,494 -

Movement during the year 6,007,951,720 (129,370,751) 629,888,226 7,899,631 (261,616,520) 6,254,752,306

Opening fund balance as at 1 April 2018 51,635,166,411 4,884,375,652 1,890,924,338 73,303,010 855,503,728 59,339,273,139

Closing fund balance as at 31 March 2019 57,643,118,131 4,755,004,901 2,520,812,564 81,202,641 593,887,208 65,594,025,445
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Net assets allocated to funds and reserves

Property, plant and equipment - - - - 21,867,704 21,867,704

Investments 59,040,224,977 4,748,001,773 2,350,236,212 205,375,020 - 66,343,837,982

Accounts receivables 148,048 - - - 5,200,401 5,348,449

Cash and cash equivalents 109,292,494 4,870,778 3,304,437 - 31,170,287 148,637,996

Total assets 59,149,665,519 4,752,872,551 2,353,540,649 205,375,020 58,238,392 66,519,692,131

Benefits payable 584,877,528 - - - - 584,877,528

Accounts payables 32,618,699 3,184,905 1,229,658 - 34,382,493 71,415,755

Total liabilities 617,496,227 3,184,905 1,229,658 - 34,382,493 656,293,283

Net assets 58,532,169,292 4,749,687,646 2,352,310,991 205,375,020 23,855,899 65,863,398,848

Net funding level - over/(under) funded 889,051,161 (5,317,255) (168,501,573) 124,172,379 (570,031,309) 269,373,403

20. Fund analysis (continued)

31 March 2019 Active and deferred 
members

Pensioners
With profit

Pensioners
Without profit

Pre Retirement Operations
and reserves

Total

Number of members 153,633 5,531 2,896 50 - 162,110

TOTAL FUNDS AND RESERVES P P P P P P
Members' statututory contributions 753,200,900 - - - - 753,200,900

Employers' contributions 2,182,537,852 - - - - 2,182,537,852

Members' voluntary contributions 4,743,632 - - - - 4,743,632

Transfer in from other funds 2,487,747 - - - - 2,487,747

Net rental income 43,411,287 - - - - 43,411,287

Profit on disposal of investments 37,272,333 (10,776,992) - - - 26,495,341

Dividends income 911,728,333 42,767,829 - - - 954,496,162

Interest income 440,365,187 179,377,013 118,237,336 7,899,631 - 745,879,167

Net fair value loss from financial instruments 3,487,195,675 (154,203,195) 117,742,470 - - 3,450,734,950

Management expenses (259,202,282) (19,134,061) (7,516,377) - (195,898,494) (481,751,214)

Monthly pensions (573,986,956) - - - - (573,986,956)

Lump sums accrued on withdrawal (54,606,460) - - - - (54,606,460)

Lump sums accrued on death (294,725,830) - - - - (294,725,830)

Lump sums accrued on retirement (504,164,272) - - - - (504,164,272)

6,176,257,146 38,030,594 228,463,429 7,899,631 (195,898,494) 6,254,752,306

Transfers directly to/(from) reserves 261,616,520 - - - (261,616,520) -

Transfers directly (from)/to pension accounts (500,517,475) (129,370,750) 629,888,225 - - -

Inter segment transfer 70,595,529 (38,030,595) (228,463,428) - 195,898,494 -

Movement during the year 6,007,951,720 (129,370,751) 629,888,226 7,899,631 (261,616,520) 6,254,752,306

Opening fund balance as at 1 April 2018 51,635,166,411 4,884,375,652 1,890,924,338 73,303,010 855,503,728 59,339,273,139

Closing fund balance as at 31 March 2019 57,643,118,131 4,755,004,901 2,520,812,564 81,202,641 593,887,208 65,594,025,445
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Net assets allocated to funds and reserves

Property, plant and equipment - - - - 8,677,685 8,677,685

Investments 53,523,301,388 4,887,451,869 1,733,663,547 115,077,495 - 60,259,494,299

Accounts receivables 12,314,845 - - - - 12,314,845

Cash and cash equivalents 105,795,238 12,796,376 1,838,149 - 18,434,741 138,864,504

Total assets 53,641,411,471 4,900,248,245 1,735,501,696 115,077,495 27,112,426 60,419,351,333

Benefits payable 1,046,692,080 - - - - 1,046,692,080

Accounts payables 47,239,746 2,035,521 597,222 - - 49,872,489

Total liabilities 1,093,931,826 2,035,521 597,222 - - 1,096,564,569

Net assets 52,547,479,645 4,898,212,724 1,734,904,474 115,077,495 27,112,426 59,322,786,764

Net funding level - over/(under) funded 912,313,234 13,837,072 (156,019,864) 41,774,485 (828,391,302) (16486375)

20. Fund analysis (continued)

31 March 2018 Active and deferred 
members

Pensioners
With profit

Pensioners
Without profit

Pre Retirement Operations
and reserves

Total

Number of members 147,947 5,508 2,366 44 - 155,865

TOTAL FUNDS AND RESERVES P P P P P P
Members' statututory contributions 687,800,353 - - - - 687,800,353

Employers' contributions 2,065,008,250 - - - - 2,065,008,250

Members' voluntary contributions 4,718,212 - - - - 4,718,212

Transfer in from other funds 2,467,034 - - - - 2,467,034

Contributions - Unallocated 790,139 - - - - 790,139

Net rental income 37,610,002 - - - - 37,610,002

Profit on disposal of investments 674,891,989 (145,387,973) (485,997) - - 529,018,019

Dividends income 859,332,183 56,071,493 - - - 915,403,676

Interest income 417,455,674 146,106,569 126,800,393 5,098,184 - 695,460,820

Net fair value (loss)/gain from financial instruments (497,264,763) 185,050,969 5,145,817 43,739,934 - (263,328,043)

Management expenses (241,622,036) (20,828,772) (7,180,829) - (170,923,794) (440,555,431)

Monthly pensions (510,006,098) - - - - (510,006,098)

Lump sums accrued on withdrawal 21,007,631 - - - - 21,007,631

Lump sums accrued on death (119,495,322) - - - - (119,495,322)

Lump sums accrued on retirement (1,794,423,885) - - - - (1,794,423,885)

1,608,269,363 221,012,286 124,279,384 48,838,118 (170,923,794) 1,831,475,357

Transfers directly (to)/from reserves 344,001,605 - - - (344,001,605) -

Transfers directly (to)/from pension accounts (109,707,333) 20,163,104 89,544,229 - - -

Inter segement transfer 174,367,875 (221,012,285) (124,279,384) - 170,923,794 -

Movement during the year 2,016,931,510 20,163,105 89,544,229 48,838,118 (344,001,605) 1,831,475,357

Opening fund balance as at 1 April 2017 49,618,234,901 4,864,212,547 1,801,380,109 24,464,892 1,199,505,333 57,507,797,782

Closing fund balance as at 31 March 2018 51,635,166,411 4,884,375,652 1,890,924,338 73,303,010 855,503,728 59,339,273,139
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Net assets allocated to funds and reserves

Property, plant and equipment - - - - 8,677,685 8,677,685

Investments 53,523,301,388 4,887,451,869 1,733,663,547 115,077,495 - 60,259,494,299

Accounts receivables 12,314,845 - - - - 12,314,845

Cash and cash equivalents 105,795,238 12,796,376 1,838,149 - 18,434,741 138,864,504

Total assets 53,641,411,471 4,900,248,245 1,735,501,696 115,077,495 27,112,426 60,419,351,333

Benefits payable 1,046,692,080 - - - - 1,046,692,080

Accounts payables 47,239,746 2,035,521 597,222 - - 49,872,489

Total liabilities 1,093,931,826 2,035,521 597,222 - - 1,096,564,569

Net assets 52,547,479,645 4,898,212,724 1,734,904,474 115,077,495 27,112,426 59,322,786,764

Net funding level - over/(under) funded 912,313,234 13,837,072 (156,019,864) 41,774,485 (828,391,302) (16486375)

20. Fund analysis (continued)

31 March 2018 Active and deferred 
members

Pensioners
With profit

Pensioners
Without profit

Pre Retirement Operations
and reserves

Total

Number of members 147,947 5,508 2,366 44 - 155,865

TOTAL FUNDS AND RESERVES P P P P P P
Members' statututory contributions 687,800,353 - - - - 687,800,353

Employers' contributions 2,065,008,250 - - - - 2,065,008,250

Members' voluntary contributions 4,718,212 - - - - 4,718,212

Transfer in from other funds 2,467,034 - - - - 2,467,034

Contributions - Unallocated 790,139 - - - - 790,139

Net rental income 37,610,002 - - - - 37,610,002

Profit on disposal of investments 674,891,989 (145,387,973) (485,997) - - 529,018,019

Dividends income 859,332,183 56,071,493 - - - 915,403,676

Interest income 417,455,674 146,106,569 126,800,393 5,098,184 - 695,460,820

Net fair value (loss)/gain from financial instruments (497,264,763) 185,050,969 5,145,817 43,739,934 - (263,328,043)

Management expenses (241,622,036) (20,828,772) (7,180,829) - (170,923,794) (440,555,431)

Monthly pensions (510,006,098) - - - - (510,006,098)

Lump sums accrued on withdrawal 21,007,631 - - - - 21,007,631

Lump sums accrued on death (119,495,322) - - - - (119,495,322)

Lump sums accrued on retirement (1,794,423,885) - - - - (1,794,423,885)

1,608,269,363 221,012,286 124,279,384 48,838,118 (170,923,794) 1,831,475,357

Transfers directly (to)/from reserves 344,001,605 - - - (344,001,605) -

Transfers directly (to)/from pension accounts (109,707,333) 20,163,104 89,544,229 - - -

Inter segement transfer 174,367,875 (221,012,285) (124,279,384) - 170,923,794 -

Movement during the year 2,016,931,510 20,163,105 89,544,229 48,838,118 (344,001,605) 1,831,475,357

Opening fund balance as at 1 April 2017 49,618,234,901 4,864,212,547 1,801,380,109 24,464,892 1,199,505,333 57,507,797,782

Closing fund balance as at 31 March 2018 51,635,166,411 4,884,375,652 1,890,924,338 73,303,010 855,503,728 59,339,273,139



96 Botswana Public Officers Pension Fund

21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

CURRENCY RISK

The Fund is exposed to currency risk mainly through its investments and term deposits denominated 
in foreign currencies, and foreign investments in securities, bonds and unitised and mutual funds 
as per note 13. The Fund’s total exposure to currency risk (in P’000) through its investments in the 
above financial instruments amounts to P 40,853,304 (2018: P 35,155,617). The table below gives an 
indication of the Fund’s total exposure in different currencies.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
31 MARCH 2019

Amount
BWP ‘000

Amount
USD ‘000

Amount
ZAR ‘000

Total
BWP ‘000

Equity Listed 11,676,082 3,498,531 - 49,416,444

Unlisted 2,735,208 165,642 - 4,522,067

Unitised funds Listed - - - -

Unlisted - 11,632 35,849 173,972

Bonds Listed 9,433,236 - 769,887 10,484,750

Unlisted - - - - 

Cash and cash equivalent 1,084,427 10,252 - 1,195,024

Total 24,928,953 3,686,057 805,736 65,792,257

Amount in BWP 24,928,953 39,763,293 1,090,011 65,792,257

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
31 MARCH 2018

Amount
BWP ‘000

Amount
USD ‘000

Amount
ZAR ‘000

Total
BWP ‘000

Equity Listed 12,076,806 1,539,263 - 26,750,430

Unlisted 3,413,023 - - 3,413,023

Unitised funds Listed - 1,646,805 - 15,698,812

Unlisted - 346,504 85,575 3,372,490

Bonds Listed 8,457,437 - 1,724,960 9,854,392

Unlisted - - - - 

Cash and cash equivalent 821,041 13,737 - 834,778

Total 24,768,307 3,546,309 1,810,535 59,923,925

Amount in BWP 24,768,307 33,689,360 1,466,258 59,923,925

INTEREST RATE RISK     

Interest rate risk is the possible loss in the value of a fixed income asset resulting from an unexpected 
and adverse movement in interest rates and consequent change in price.
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Financial instruments that are sensitive to interest rate risk are bank balances and cash, interest 
bearing securities and term deposits.

Interest rates earned on financial instruments compare favourably with those currently available in the 
market. The net exposure to interest rate risk (in P’000) as at 31 March 2019 amounted to P1,195,024 
(2018: P 1,013,666) being its exposure in respect of investments in local and offshore fixed interest 
instruments and cash at bank.

PRICE RISK

Price risk is the risk that the value of investment decreases as a result of changes in the prices and 
diminution of value of individual investments. The table below shows the Fund’s exposure to price risk 
based on the various stock exchanges on which its investments are traded.

FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS

Botswana 
Stock 

Exchange

FTSE
100 UK
equity

NYSE/United 
states stock 

exchange

Johannesburg 
Stock 

Exchange

Unlisted and 
listed on other

stock exchanges

Total

31 MARCH 2019 P '000 P '000 P '000 P '000 P '000 P '000

Equity 11,676,082 - 21,644,210 874,383 13,909,270 48,103,945

Bonds 9,453,938 - - 1,041,514 589,425 11,084,877

Unitised funds - - - - 2,157,000 2,157,000

Total 21,130,020 - 21,644,210 1,915,897 16,655,695 61,345,822

FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS

Botswana 
Stock 

Exchange

FTSE
100 UK
equity

NYSE/United 
states stock 

exchange

Johannesburg 
Stock 

Exchange

Unlisted and 
listed on other

stock exchanges

Total

31 MARCH 2018 P '000 P '000 P '000 P '000 P '000 P '000

Equity 12,076,806 837,225 7,127,373 176,752 13,742,522 33,960,678

Bonds 6,160,319 - - 1,724,960 2,297,118 10,182,397

Unitised funds - - - - 14,426,809 14,426,809

Total 18,237,125 837,225 7,127,373 1,901,712 30,466,449 58,569,884



98 Botswana Public Officers Pension Fund

FAIR VALUES:

The fair values of all financial instruments are substantially identical to the carrying amounts reflected 
in the statement of funds and net assets. The fair value hierarchy of the Fund is disclosed in note 13 
to the financial statements.

MARKET RISK SENSITIVITY

The set of assumptions used for each of the risk factors hereunder are not forecasts, but merely "what 
if' scenarios and the likely impact on the current portfolio, based on selected changes in risk variables.

The table below gives an indication of the risk sensitivities of the portfolio to various risk parameters. 
Assuming that the probability of the beneficial change in the risk variables are as likely to happen as 
an adverse change, both potential increase and decrease are shown for the indicated scenarios.

Risk Variable Variable Varies by 2019
P ‘000

2018
P ‘000

Currency risk Pula 1 % (484,488) (348,075)

(fair value impact) (1)% 484,488 348,075

Price risk Price 1 % 613,458 585,699

(fair value impact) (1)% (613,458) (585,699)

Interest rate risk Interest yield 1 % 102,568 102,568

(cash flow impact) (1)% (102,568) (102,568)

CREDIT RISK

The Fund takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay 
amounts in full when due. Impairment provisions are provided for losses that have been incurred by 
the balance sheet date, if any.

The Fund’s main credit risk concentration is spread between debt securities and trading derivative 
products. Less than 10% of the fair value of favourable contracts outstanding as at 31 March 2018 was 
with a single issuer. There were no trading derivative products in issue as at the year ended 31 March 
2019.

The Fund’s Investment Committee is responsible for portfolio management and risk concentration issues 
and sector exposure. The Investment Committee is responsible for sanctioning large credit exposures to 
all investment managers. Financial assets of the Fund, which are subject to credit risk, consist mainly 
of investments.

Cash resources and unitised investments are placed with investment managers and financial institutions. 
These institutions and investment managers are of high standing. All transactions in listed securities 
are settled/paid for upon delivery using approved brokers. The risk of default is considered minimal, as 
delivery of securities sold is only made once the broker has received payment. Payment is made on a 
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purchase once the securities have been received by the broker. The trade will fail if either party fails to 
meet its obligation.

The Fund is managed as follows:

The financial assets of the Fund which are subject to credit risk consists of bonds, unitised funds, loan, 
cash resources and receivables. These are not collateralized or subject to credit enhancements. These 
are readily convertible into cash. The cash resources are placed with reputable financial institutions. The 
credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference 
to external credit ratings (if available).

Financial Instruments Managed by local fund
managers

Managed by others Total

31 March 2019 P '000 P '000 P '000

Unitised funds - 18,415,176 18,415,176

Bonds 6,205,390 - 6,205,390

Cash and cash equivalents 827,489 - 827,489

Total 7,032,879 18,415,176 25,448,055

Financial Instruments Managed by local fund
managers

Managed by others Total

31 March 2018 P '000 P '000 P '000

Unitised funds 15,698,812 3,372,490 19,071,302

Bonds 7,885,279 - 7,885,279

Cash and cash equivalents 1,177,546 314,729 1,492,275

Total 24,761,637 3,687,219 28,448,856

Financial Instruments
31 March 2019

Fixed interest 
P ‘000

Variable interest
P ‘000

Total
P ‘000

Credit rating

Bonds Listed 1,414,880 86,899 1,501,779 A or similar

1,690,593 425,983 2,116,576 AA or similar

903,749 588,081 1,491,830 Not rated

Total 4,009,222 1,100,963 5,110,185

Unlisted 22,573 - 22,573 AA or similar

763,769 308,863 1,072,632 Not rated

Total 786,342 308,863 1,095,205

Unitised funds Unlisted 5,732,931 12,682,245 18,415,176 Not rated

Total 5,732,931 12,682,245 18,415,176

676,904 150,584 827,488 Not rated

Total 676,904 150,584 827,488

Grand total 11,205,399 14,242,655 25,448,054
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Financial Instruments
31 March 2018

Fixed interest 
P ‘000

Variable interest
P ‘000

Total
P ‘000

Credit rating

Bonds Listed 2,296,497 1,145,962 3,442,459 A or similar

426,910 40,600 467,510 AA or similar

1,413,255 343,604 1,756,859 Not rated

Total 4,136,662 1,530,166 5,666,828

Unlisted 691,500 - 691,500 AA or similar

413,789 167,342 581,131 Not rated

Total 1,105,289 167,342 1,272,631

  Unlisted 4,869,953 2,253,579 7,123,532

Total 4,869,953 2,253,579 7,123,532

Cash and cash equivalents 500,741 507,118 1,007,859 Not rated

Total 500,741 507,118 1,007,859

Grand total 10,612,645 4,458,205 15,070,850

These ratings have mainly been assigned by the respective asset managers and represents as follows:

A/A- or similar

Strong capacity to meet financial commitments, but somewhat susceptible to adverse economic 
conditions and changes in circumstances.

AA or similar

Very strong capacity to meet financial commitments.

AAA or similar

Extremely strong capacity to meet financial commitments.

BBB or similar

Highest Rating Adequate capacity to meet financial commitments, but more subject to adverse economic 
conditions.

B or similar

Vulnerable but currently has the capacity to meet its financial commitments.
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Outside of investment and trading activities, the Fund’s most significant credit risk exposure is with 
various departments of the Botswana Government, with respect to creation contributions for newly 
transferred members and contributions of monthly member and employer contributions. Given the 
sovereign nature of this debt, and based on the fact that the Government of Botswana has historically 
never defaulted on its obligations, the Fund believes that the credit risk attaching to this debt is 
insignificant. Further international credit rating agency Moody’s has rated the Botswana Government 
debt as “A2” which is interpreted as investment grade with a positive outlook.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the 
availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close 
out market positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the fund administrator 
maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining sufficient cash resources in bank call accounts.

The Investment Committee monitors the Fund’s liquidity reserves on the basis of expected cash flow. 
This is generally carried out at the fund administrator level within limits set by the Fund.

The table below analyses the Fund’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the 
remaining period at the balance sheet to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the 
table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying 
balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

AT 31 MARCH 2019 1 - 3 months  
P ‘000

3 - 12 months
P ‘000

After 12 months P 
‘000

Total
P ‘000

Benefits payable 584,878 - - 584,878

Accounts payable 71,416 - - 71,416

Pensioners' fund account 191,329 573,987 6,510,501 7,275,817

847,623 573,987 6,510,501 7,932,111

AT 31 MARCH 2018
Forward foreign exchange 
contracts - cash flow hedges

1 - 3 months  
P ‘000

3 - 12 months
P ‘000

After 12 months P 
‘000

Total
P ‘000

Benefits payable 1,046,692 - - 1,046,692

Accounts payable 49,873 - - 49,873

Pensioners' fund account 128,730 386,192 6,259,975 6,774,897

1,225,295 386,192 6,259,975 7,871,462
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NOTES
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